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The World Is Run By People Who Show Up. 
Be That Person.

comstock.com/weshowup

Never underestimate the value of your presence. You make a 
difference in your community and the world around you when 
you SHOW UP. Whatever you aspire to do, remember, be
seen, be heard, be remarkable.



FY 2023 HIGHLIGHTS

MANAGED PORTFOLIO 

$44.7M
REVENUE

Commercial

2.0M
SQUARE FEET

92%
LEASED

Parking

30
GARAGES

18K+
SPACES

Residential

97%
LEASED

1.8M
SQUARE FEET

$10.4M
ADJUSTED EBITDA

$9.0M
OPERATING CASH FLOW

AT FULL 
BUILD-OUT

68
PROPERTIES

~10M
SQUARE FEET

$5B+
VALUE

Founded in 1985, Comstock is a leading asset manager, developer, and operator of mixed-
use and transit-oriented properties in the Washington, D.C. region. 
With a managed portfolio comprising approximately 10 million square feet of stabilized, under construction, and planned 
assets that are strategically located at key Metro stations, Comstock is at the forefront of the urban transformation taking place 
in one of the nation’s best real estate markets. Comstock’s developments include some of the largest and most prominent 
mixed-use and transit-oriented projects in the mid-Atlantic region, as well as multiple large-scale public-private partnership 
developments.  We have become the area’s premier real estate service company by creating extraordinary places, delivering 
exceptional experiences, and generating excellent results for all stakeholders.

Our Company
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EXPERTISE
We provide a broad suite of asset 
management, property management, 
development and construction 
management, and other real estate-
related services to our asset-owning 
clients. We specialize in supporting 
the seamless integration of residential, 
commercial, and retail offerings into 
vibrant communities, including Reston 
Station and Loudoun Station, which are 
among the region’s largest and most 
prominent mixed-use, transit-oriented 
developments.

INNOVATION
Our fee-based, asset-light, and substantially 
debt-free business model allows us to 
substantially mitigate risks that are typically 
associated with real estate development and 
operation. We have developed a streamlined 
business platform on which we can (i) 

(ii) mature and expand our real estate service 
offerings, (iii) diversify and grow our managed 
portfolio of assets, both organically and 
through additional third-party relationships, 
(iv) pursue strategic investments and 
complimentary acquisitions, and (v) deliver 
exceptional value to our shareholders. 

CULTURE
We distinguish ourselves from 
industry peers through an 
established standard of excellence 
that extends from who we hire to 
how we deliver our broad suite 
of real estate services. We are 
able maintain this high standard 
because We Show Up — every 
day, in person, in a collaborative 
environment that is structured to 
deliver on our mission to make 
a difference for our customers, 
our stakeholders, and in the 
communities that we serve.

Why Comstock

49
PROPERTIES
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our capital structure, and maximize the potential of our fee-based revenue streams. 

To Our Shareholders

Most notable has been the consistency of our growth engine, as we achieved higher comparative quarterly revenue for the 

these are trends we fully expect will continue into 2024 and beyond.

I am proud to share that our success is no accident; it is a direct testament to a multitude of factors that together have 
steadily grown Comstock into the premier real estate services provider that we are today, including:

1) Our Business Model
 We operate our business in a way that allows us to substantially mitigate risks that are typically associated with real 

estate development and operation. In 2023 alone, we generated $9 million in cash from operations. Our streamlined, 

add investments stemming from market disruptions that would compliment our existing managed portfolio. 

2) Our Assets
 We maintain a robust managed portfolio of high-quality, sought-after operating assets that includes two of the largest 

and most prominent mixed-use, transit-oriented developments in the mid-Atlantic region, Reston Station and Loudoun 

by our ability to maintain well-above average lease percentages of 90% or more in both our commercial and residential 
portfolios. Complementing our core of strong commercial and residential portfolio assets continues to be the exponential 
growth of our ParkX team, who in 2023 saw a 36% growth in AUM that included multiple new third-party locations.

$7.8M
NET INCOME  

(~43% GROWTH IN Q423 VS. PY)

$18.8M
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(~60% GROWTH VS. PY)

$9.2M
OPERATING INCOME 

(~15% GROWTH VS. PY)

$44.7M
TOP LINE REVENUE 

(~14% GROWTH VS. PY)

$10.4M
ADJUSTED EBITDA 

(~16% GROWTH VS. PY)



Christopher Clemente  

3) Our People
 We are privileged to have a seasoned management team with 

decades of experience, leading a talented workforce of real estate 
professionals dedicated to excellence. Our approach to doing 

us from our industry peers and relies on a commitment to work 
together — every day, in person, to drive a standard of excellence 
that we consider to be our baseline. We Show Up every day 
because we believe that showing up makes a difference for 
our customers, our stakeholders, and in the communities that 
we serve. To learn more about Comstock’s culture, please visit  
www.Comstock.com/WeShowUp.

Our 2023 achievements expanded our baseline potential and 
provided clear visibility to future revenue and income growth, and 

imminent. Over the next 12 to 24 months, we anticipate the delivery 
of the following operating assets in The Row at Reston Station that will 
further enhance our growth trajectory:

• 3 commercial assets representing approximately 600,000 square feet;

• A BLVD-branded residential asset with 420 units representing approximately 430,000 square feet; 

• 

• 2 commercial parking garages with approximately 2,900 spaces.

PuttShack indoor golf and dining entertainment venue. This next phase of development will solidify Reston Station’s presence 
as one of the most sought-after and premier mixed-use, transit-oriented neighborhoods in the greater Washington, D.C., 
region. In addition, we continue to grow our robust pipeline of development assets, further positioning us for sustainable, 
long-term success.

As we continue our ongoing expansion, we remain committed to doing so responsibly. In 2023, we rolled out multiple 

the workers, residents, and visitors of the vibrant neighborhoods that we serve. A full summary of the progress we have made 
in our various environmental, social, and governance programs can be found in the 2023 ESG Report that is hosted on our 
corporate website. 

Comstock enters 2024 with exciting prospects as we venture forward. Our ability to thrive in today’s complex commercial real 
estate sector underscores our potential for continued growth and highlights the capabilities and commitment of our team of 
real estate services professionals that have fully embraced our We Show Up mentality. While the COVID-19 pandemic may 
have changed how many view the commercial real estate industry as a whole, what distinguishes us from many of our peers 
continues to be our heartfelt commitment to create extraordinary places and provide exceptional experiences for our tenants 
and third-party stakeholders who live, work, and play at the assets we manage.

I would like to thank our team and our clients for a stellar 2023, and express my sincere appreciation to the investment 
community as we continue to drive Comstock to reach its full potential. 

Sincerely,
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continued expansion of our assets under management.  

Key Performance Metrics¹ FY 2023 FY 2022

Revenue $44,721 $39,313

Income from Operations $9,164

Net Income $7,784 $7,728 

$10,423 $8,994

Net Income per share — diluted $0.77 $1.02

49 41

Our Results
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain matters disclosed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may include forward-looking statements. These statements can be
identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They use words such as “aim,” “anticipate,”
“believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “projeo ct,” “should,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely
result,” “would,” and other words and terms of similar meaning in conjunction with a discussion of future operations or financial
performance. These forff ward-looking statements are based on current management expectations, which are subject to inherent
risks and uncertainties that may cause actuat l results to differ materially from the results expressed in, or implied by, these
forward-looking statements.

The Company acknowledges the importance of communicating future expectations to investors, however future events and
circumstances are not always able to be accurately predicted or controlled. When considering forff ward-looking statements,
investors should keep in mind the risks and uncertainties that may cause actuat l results to differ materially from the expectations
described, and consequently should place no undue reliance on any of these statements. There are several factff ors that may affeff ct
the Company or the real estate industry arr s a whole which could impact the accuracy of forward-looking statements, including, but
not limited to: general economic and market conditions, including inflation and interest rate levels; changes in real estate markets;
inherent risks of investment in real estate; the ability to attract and retain customers; the ability to compete in the markets in which
the Company operates; regulatory arr ctions; fluff ctuat tions in operating results; shortages and increased costs of labor or materials;
adverse weather conditions and naturt al disasters; public health emergencies; the abia lity to raise debt and equity capital and grow
operations on a profitabla e basis; and continuing relationships with affiff liates.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required under fedff eral
securities laws and the rulrr es and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), the Company undertakes no
obligation to updau te any forff ward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances arising after the date of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, whether as a result of new inforff mation, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law.



PART I

Item 1. Business

As used herein, "Comstock", "CHCCC I"CC , "" the ComCC pany,"m "we," "us,"" "our," and similar terms are referring to Comstock Holding
Companies, IncII . and its stt ubsidiaries, unless thett context indicates otherwise.ii

Overview

Comstock is a leading asset manager, developer, and operator of mixed-use and transit-oriented properties in the Washington,
D.C. region. We have become the area’s premier real estate service company by creating extraordinary places, delivering
exceptional experiences, and generating excellent results for all stakeholders.

Since 1985, we have acquired, developed, operated, and sold millions of square feet of residential, commercial, and mixed-use
properties. Our industry err xpertise and commitment to excellence enable us to consistently deliver best-in-class services across the
diverse assets in our managed portfolff io. We specialize in supporting the seamless integration of residential, commercial, and retail
offeriff ngs into vibrant mixed-use communities, exemplifieff d by Reston Station and Loudoun Station, two assets in our Anchor
Portfolio that are among the region's largest and most prominent mixed-use, transit-oriented developments. We maintain a
market-leading position in Northern Virginia's Dulles Corridor, which is undergoing an urban transformation as a result of the
creation and expansion of Metro's Silver Line, which connects Loudoun County and Dulles International Airpor rt to Reston,
Tysons, Washington, D.C., and suburu bar n Marylrr and.

We provide a broad suite of asset management, property management, development and construcr tion management, and other real
estate-related services to our asset-owning clients, composed primarily of institutional real estate investors, high net worth family
offiff ces, finff ancial institutt ions, and governmental bodies seeking to enhance their surrounding communities by developing real
estate they own through public-private partnerships. We employ a talented staff of rff eal estate profesff sionals that are led by our
seasoned management team and are tasked with delivering high-quality services to the premium, strategically located assets in our
managed portfolff io.

Our asset management services platforff m is anchored by a long-term full-service asset management agreement with a Comstock
affiff liate that extends through 2035 and covers all of the properties in our Anchor Portfolio (the "2022 AMA" - see below forff
additional details). As a vertically integrated real estate services company, we perform all property management activity through
three wholly owned operational subsidiaries: CHCI Commercial Management, LC (“CHCI Commercial”); CHCI Residential
Management, LC (“CHCI Residential”); and ParkX Management, LC (“ParkX”).

We operate a fee-ff based, asset-light, and subsu tantially debt-free business model that allows us to subsu tantially mitigate risks that
are typically associated with real estate development and operation. We have directly aligned the equity ownership of our
Company with the ownership interests of the affiff liated assets that we manage in our Anchor Portfolio. This relationship, along
with the 2022 AMA that includes a baseline cost-plus featurt e and supplu emental performance-based revenue opportunities, provide
us with a stabla e, streamlined business platform on which we can (i) produce consistent, positive finff ancial results, (ii) maturt e and
expand our real estate service offerings, (iii) diversify aff nd grow our managed portfolff io of assets, both organically and through
additional third-party relationships, (iv) pursue strategic investments and complimentary arr cquisitions, and (v) deliver exceptional
value to our shareholders.

We distinguish ourselves from industry prr eers through an establa ished standard of excellence that extends from who we hire to how
we deliver our broad suite of real estate services. We are able maintain this high standard because We Show Up - every drr ay, in
person, in a collabora ative environment that is strucrr tured to deliver on our mission to make a differeff nce for ourff customers, our
stakeholders, and in the communities that we serve.

Significant Developments

CES Divestiture

On March 31, 2022, we completed the sale of Comstock Environmental Services, LLC ("CES"), a wholly owned subsidiary, to
August Mack Environmental, Inc. ("August Mack"). This strategic divestiture was based on the continued growth and futuret
prospects of our asset management business. Accordingly, we have reflected CES as a discontinued operation in our consolidated
financial statements forff all periods presented, and unless otherwise noted, all amounts and disclosures relate solely to our
continuing operations. (See Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information).
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Series C PrePP fee rred StoSS ck Redemption and 2022 Asset ManMM agement Agreement

On June 13, 2022, we completed two separate significant transactions to further deleverage our balance sheet and enhance our
long-term revenue outlook and growth potential. The firff st one with CP Real Estate Services, LC (“CPRES”), an entity owned by
Christopher Clemente, Comstock’s Chief Executive Officer, redeemed all outstanding Series C preferred stock at a significant
discount to carrying value. Secondly, we executed a new asset management agreement with Comstock Partners, LC ("CP"), an
entity controlled by Mr. Clemente and wholly owned by Mr. Clemente and certain family members, which covers our Anchor
Portfolio of assets (the "2022 AMA"). The 2022 AMA increased the base feesff we collect, expanded the services that qualify fff orff
additional supplemental feeff s, extended the term through 2035, and most notably introduced a mark-to-market incentive feeff based
on the imputed profitff of Anchor Portfolio assets, generally as each is stabilized and as furff ther specified in the agreement. (See
Notes 10 and 14 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information).

Our Services

Our experienced team of profesff sionals provides a comprehensive suite of services and solutions related to the acquisition,
development, and operation of real estate assets. The services we provide cover all aspects of real estate asset management,
including acquisition and disposition management, leasing, design, placemaking, property management, origination and
negotiation of debt and equity facilities, risk management, construction and development management, creation of investment
opportunities, execution of core-plus, value-add, and opportunistic strategies, and various other property-specific services.

Our asset management services platform is anchored by the 2022 AMA, which covers all the assets in our Anchor Portfolio. In
addition, we have entered into separate asset management agreements for non-Anchor Portfolio assets. All properties included in
our managed portfolff io have entered into property management agreements with our three wholly owned operational subsidiaries
that provide for market-rate fees related to our services.

Our Portfolio

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the operating assets that are included in our managed portfolff io:

Type # of Assets Size/Scale % Leased
Commercial 13 2.0 million sqft. 92%
Residential 6 1.8 million sqft. / ~1,700 units 97%
Parking 30 18,000+ spaces
Total 49

In addition, we manage the folff lowing assets that are under construcrr tion and scheduled for delivery in trr he next 12 to 24 months:

3• commerciiall assets representing appr ioximatelyly 600,000 square feet;

1• re isiddentiial al sset with 420 units representing approximately 430,000 square feet;

• 1 JW Marriott-branded hotel/condominium with 243 keys and 95 residential units representing a total of approximately
520,000 square feet; and

• 2 commercial parking garages with approximately 2,900 spaces.

Our development pipeline currently includes 5 commercial assets that represent approximately 1.5 million square feet, 6
residential assets with 2,599 units that represent appra oximately 2.8 million square feet, and 1 hotel that will include 140 keys. At
full build out, our managed portfolff io of assets is currently projected to total 68 assets that represent nearly 10 million square feet.

Anchor Portfott lio

Reston Station

Reston Station is one of the largest mixed-use, transit-oriented developments in the mid-Atlantic region. Located at the Wiehle-
Reston East station on Metro’s Silver Line, the Reston Station neighborhood spans the Dulles Toll Road and covers
approximately 90 acres. The Reston Station neighborhood is being developed in phases and is composed of the folff lowing five
districts:
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• Metro Plaza Distriii ct (OpeO rating)

The Metro Plaza District is located adjad cent to Wiehle Reston-East Metro Station and contains approximately 1.4 million
square feet of mixed-use development, highlighted by three Trophy-Class officff e buildings and BLVD Reston, a luxury
residential tower with 448 units. It is home to corporate and regional headquarters of Google, ICF Global, Spotify,ff
Qualtrics, Rolls-Royce of North America, Neustar, and others. All buildings in the Metro Plaza District have ground
floor retail, which has been leased to high-quality tenants, including Starbucksr , CVS, Founding Farmers, Matchbox,
Scissors & Scotch, and others.

The Metro Plaza District also includes one of the largest underground commuter parking garages and bus transit facff ilities
in the region. The 1.7 million square foot subtu erranean garage and transit facility is the subject of a public-private
partnership between a Comstock affiliate and Fairfaxff County, Virginia. The Reston Station transit facility provides
Metro commuters with an indoor bus transit depot designed to accommodate upwards of 110 buses per hour, 2,300
commuter parking spaces operated by Fairfaxff County, and approxia mately 2,750 additional parking spaces for retail,
offiff ce, and commuter uses, a Tesla Supeu r Charging Station and numerous other electric vehicle charging stations, secure
bicycle parking and storage facilities, subsu tantial storm water management vaults, and state-of-tff he-art water treatment
systems.

• Reston Row District (Un(( der ConsCC truction)

The Reston Row District is currently being developed on approxia mately 9 acres adjad cent to the Metro Plaza District. This
newest phase of the Reston Station development has entitlements in place allowing for approxia mately 1.5 million square
feet of mixed-use development and will include two Trophy-Class office buildings, a residential building with 420
multifamily units, over 100,000 square feet of retail, and Virginia's first JW Marriott Hotel and Condominium tower,
which will have 243 hotel rooms, 95 JW Marriott-branded condominium residences, and approxia mately 25,000 square
feet of meeting space.

• Commerce District (In(( Developmo ent)

The Commerce District is located on approximately 16 acres adjad cent to Wiehle Reston-East Metro Station, directly
across the Dulles Toll Road from the Metro Plaza District. It has entitlements in place that allow forff approximately 1.5
million square feet of new mixed-use development surrounding the fourff existing stabia lized Class-A office buildings that
represent a total of appra oximately 590,000 square feet. We are currently leasing and managing the fourff existing offiff ce
buildings and one existing retail building while finalizing plans for the permitted new development.

• Midline District (In(( Development)

The Midline District, located directly across Wiehle Avenue from the Reston Row District and the Metro Plaza District,
has entitlements in place that allow forff approximately 1.2 million square feet of new mixed-use development on
approximately 8 acres. We are currently updating the entitlements secured by the previous owner and plan to commence
development and leasing operations afteff r receiving the necessary permits for the new development.

• West Distii rit ct (In Developmo ent)

The West District currently consists of approximately 11 acres of land located adjacent to the Reston Row District and
Metro Plaza District and includes a previously developed 90,000 square foot offiff ce building owned by one of our
affiff liates and an apartment building owned by a third party. In 2022, our affiff liate acquired an existing 58,000 square foot
offiff ce building on an adjacent parcel that is planned forff demolition and will be incorporated into the West District's
development plans, which are planned to commence after entitlements are secured. It is anticipated that entitlements will
allow forff five mixed-use buildings in the West District, including the aforementioned existing apaa rtment building.

Loudoun Station (OpeO rating + In DII evelopment)

Loudoun Station, located in Ashburn, Virginia adjad cent to Ashburn Station at the terminus of Metro’s Silver Line, is Loudoun
County’s firff st and only Metro-connected development. With direct rail connectivity to Dulles International Airporr rt, Reston,
Tysons, and Washington, D.C., it represents the beginning of Loudoun County’s transformation into a transit-connected
community. Loudoun Station has more than 1.0 million square feet of mixed-use development completed and stabia lized, including
nearly 700 residential units, appra oximately 50,000 square feet of Class-A officff e space, and approxia mately 150,000 square feet of
retail space, highlighted by an 11-screen AMC Cinema as well as multiple dining and entertainment venues. It is also home to a
1,500-space Metro commuter parking garage that is the subject of a public-private partnership between a Comstock affiliate and
Loudoun County. At full build, the Loudoun Station development will cover nearly 50 acres.
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Herndon Station (In Developmo ent)

Herndon Station will include up to approximately 340,000 square feet of residential, retail and entertainment spaces, including a
performing arts center, and an appra oximately 700-space commercial parking garage in the historic downtown portion of the Town
of Herndon in western Fairfax County, Virginia. The project is the focus offf a public-private partnership between a Comstock
affiff liate and the Town of Herndon and will include improvements to existing connections to the adjacent WO&D trail, a popular
pedestrian and bicycle route that stretches from Washington, D.C. to Loudoun County, Virginia.

Othett r PorPP tfolff ioll Assets

The folff lowing summarizes additional operating assets that are currently in our managed portfolff io:

Investors X

On April 30, 2019, we entered into a Master Transfer agff reement with CPRES, that provided for prff iority distribution of residuald
cash floff w froff m its Class B membership interest in Comstock Investors X, L.C. ("Investors X"), an unconsolidated variable
interest entity that owns Comstock’s residual homebuilding operations. As of December 31, 2022, the residuad l cash flowff
primarily relates to anticipated proceeds froff m the sale of rezoned residential lots and returns of cash securing outstanding letters
of credit and cash collateral posted forff land development bonds covering work performed by subsu idiaries owned by Investors X.
The cash will be released to CHCI as bond release work associated with these projeo cts is completed.

The HarHH tfordf

In December 2019, we entered into a joint venture with CP to acquire The Hartforff d Building ("The Hartford"), a stabilized Class-
A office building immediately adjacent to Clarendon Station on Metro’s Orange Line in Arlington County, Virginia’s premier
transit-oriented offiff ce market, the Rosslyn-Ballston Corridor. Built in 2003, the 211,000 square foot mixed-use Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (“LEED”) GOLD building is leased to multiple high-quality tenants. In February 2020, we
arranged forff DivcoWest, an unaffiliated entity, to purchase a majority ownership stake in The Hartforff d and secured a $87 million
loan facility froff m MetLife. As part of the transaction, we entered into asset management and property management agreements to
manage the property.

BLVD Forty Ftt ourFFy

In October 2021, we entered into a joint venture with CP to acquire a stabia lized 15-story, luxury hrr igh-rise apartment building in
Rockville, Marylrr and that was built in 2015, which we rebranded as BLVD Forty Four. Located one block froff m the Rockville
Station on Metro's Red Line and in the heart of the I-270 Technology and Life Sff cience Corridor, the 263-unit mixed use property
includes appra oximately 16,000 square feet of retail and a commercial parking garage. In connection with the transaction, we
received an acquisition fee and are entitled to receive investment related income and promote distributions in connection with our
5% equity interest in the asset. We also provide asset, residential, retail and parking property management services for the
property in exchange for market rate fees.ff

BLVD Ansel

In March 2022, we entered into a joint venture with CP to acquire BLVD Ansel, a newly completed 18-story, luxury hrr igh-rise
apartment building with 250 units located adjacent to the Rockville Metro Station and BLVD Forty Four in Rockville, Maryland.
BLVD Ansel featff urt es approximately 20,000 square feet of retail space, 611 parking spaces, and expansive amenities including
multiple private workspaces designed to meet the needs of remote-working residents. In connection with the transaction, we
received an acquisition fee and are entitled to receive investment related income and promote distributions in connection with our
5% equity interest in the asset. We also provide residential, retail and parking property management services for the property in
exchange for market rate feeff s.

Comstock 41

In December 2023, we completed the acquisition of an 18,150 square foot land parcel located at 41 Maryland Avenue in
Rockville, Marylrr and (“Comstock 41”) through a wholly owned subsidiary for $1.5 million. This investment property sits adjad cent
to BLVD Ansel and BLVD Forty Four and is currently a surface parking lot. Comstock 41 has existing entitlements forff at least
117 dwelling units and appra oximately 11,000 square feet of retail space.

Parkingg

Our wholly owned subsidiary ParkX currently manages a total of 30 commercial parking garages and spaces, including 13
commercial parking garages owned by unaffiliated parties.
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Our Business Strategy

In early 2018, we transitioned away froff m the development and sale of residential homes to our current business model, which
primarily focuses on driving recurring fee-based revenue streams froff m the asset and property management services we provide for
commercial and mixed-use real estate properties in the greater Washington, D.C. region. This significant shift took us from a high
risk, capital-intensive appra oach to one that is asset-light and debt-free, providing us with a stronger balance sheet that allows for
greater flexibility when it comes to exploring additional opportunities to grow our business.

We have demonstrated a proven track record of successfulff ly managing a large-scale, diverse portfolff io that contains both stabia lized
and in-development assets. Our decades of experience and in-depth industry krr nowledge provide us with the necessary foundation
to successfulff ly deliver on our unique business strategy, which is centered around the folff lowing strategic areas of focus:

• GenerG atiott n of so table,ll recurring revenue and cash floff ws

We primarily operate under long-term asset management and property management agreements that provide recurring
fee-based revenue streams, including the 2022 AMA and its cost-plus fee strucr ture foundation that covers all the assets
we manage in our Anchor Portfolio. This approaa ch, along with additional opportunities to recognize supplu emental and
performance-based revenue based on provisions included in the 2022 AMA and our other management agreements,
provide us with stability and visibility that help drive consistent, predictable top-line growth and positive operating cash
flows.

• Addidd tioii n of ho igh-gg qualityll , myy ixed-udd se and tratt nsit-ott riented assets in highi -growth, hitt ghi -potentt tial areas

The assets in our managed portfolff io are primarily composed of high-quality, trophy-class assets located in transitioning
“sub-urban”r markets foundff within the greater Washington D.C. region. These sub-markets, which include the Dulles
Corridor and the Rosslyn-Ballston Corridor in Northern Virginia and the I-270 Technology and Life Sff cience Corridor in
Montgomery Crr ounty, Maryland, are currently experiencing a "flight to quality" that is driving demand for the type of
premium developments and amenity-rich buildings that compose our managed portfolff io. We anticipate the heightened
demand for top-tier real estate will persist across both commercial and residential markets, driven by an increasing
number of tenants who are willing to pay higher rents for top-quality assets located in mixed-use, transit-oriented
communities with access to premium amenities.

In Northern Virginia specificff ally, growing demand for technology and cybersecurity services has driven the proliferatff ion
of major corporrr ations opening operational headquarters in the region, including Amazon, Microsoft,ff CoStar, Nestle,
Raytheon Technologies, Boeing, and others to the region. The expansion and continued investment of these large
technology companies will benefit Northern Virginia’s employment market, further driving increased demand for the
assets we manage and the mixed-use communities we are developing.

• Leveragingii our growth ptt latforff m arr nd industrytt expexx rtistt e to stt ecure additioii nal develdd opmll ent and investment opportunitiii es

Our stabla e growth platforff m and streamlined balance sheet provide us with insulation froff m significant downturns in the
commercial real estate industry.rr As a result, we are well positioned to pursue, and potentially capitalize on, market
disruptr ions that produce new attractively valued assets that would complement our existing managed portfolff io. We
typically engage a joint-venture partner that will provide the majority of capital needed for our investments in real estate
ventures. This appra oach enabla es us to minimize risk and retain the flexibility to pursue additional value-add, core, and
core-plus investments and acquisitions as new opportunities emerge.

We have worked closely with our affiff liates to secure public-private partnerships with local governments fromff Fairfax
County, Loudoun County, and the Town of Herndon in Virginia to develop and manage large-scale mixed-use, transit-
oriented developments. Our proven track record of developing and managing best-in-class properties across the region
has positioned us as an attractive partner for additional government entities looking to improve infrastructure and
enhance their surrounding communities. In addition, recent changes to the comprehensive land use plans of Fairfax
County and Loudoun County that encourage high-density and mixed-use development proximate to Metro's Silver Line
stations may furff ther enhance our potential growth opportunities.

Our Culture

Over nearly four decades we have curated a unique culturt e that distinguishes us from our industry prr eers and is firmly rooted in
our commitment to work together - every day, in-person to drive the standard of excellence that we consider to be our baseline.
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We Show Up every drr ay because we believe that showing up makes a differeff nce for ourff customers, our stakeholders, and in the
communities that we serve. To learn more abouta Comstock's culture, please visit www.Comstock.com/WeShowUpp.

Our Values

We are committed to pursuing environmental sustainability, social responsibility, and robust governance practices across all our
operations. We recognize that development of real estate can have significant impact, positive or negative, for the surrounding
community, the region, and the environment that we all share. We believe that companies developing real estate have a
responsibility to maximize the positive impacts while taking steps to minimize negative impacts. Supporu ting and fostering these
initiatives is instrumental in making our communities better places to live, work, and play while simultaneously bolstering asset
value, reducing risk, and positively impacting all stakeholders. The following are highlights froff m our 2023 ESG Report, the fullff
version of which can be foundff on our website: www.Comstock.com/Corporate-Responsibilityp p y.

Enviroii nmental

We believe that environmentally sound business practices are critical to the long-term success of our business and the
communities in which we operate. Our managed portfolff io already includes multiple assets that are Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (“LEED”) and Energy Star certifieff d, and multiple initiatives are underway to increase the percentage of
LEED and Energy Star certified buildings in our managed portfolff io. We continue to expand our capabilities around monitoring
energy and utility consumption at all our properties, allowing us to better identify off pportunities to maximize efficiency and
sustainability through operational and capital improvements.

In 2022, we announced a partnership with DAVIS Construcr tion on the introduction of CarbonCurr e, a sustainable concrete
component, in the construcr tion of Phase II of our Reston Station development (A/K/A Reston Row District). CarbonCure is clean
technology that produces greener concrete by recycling carbon dioxider (CO2) produced during the cement manufactff urt ing process
and injecting the recycled CO2 into fresh concrete during mixing. Once injen cted, the CO2 transforff ms into a mineral that improves
the compressive strength of concrete and captures the recycled CO2 emissions which are never re-released into the atmosphere.
Every crr ubic yard of concrete producd ed with CarbonCure technology saves an average of 25 pounds of carbonr from entering the
atmosphere, which will save millions of pounds of CO2 emissions from entering the atmosphere. Furthermore, we intend to
engage our supplu y chain to incorporate sustainable designs, materials, and systems into all ongoing or future developments.

Our transit-oriented developments promote the use of mass transit, ride sharing, and alternate modes of transportation. We
continue to expand the availability of electronic vehicle charging stations and bike racks at our properties to promote the reducd tion
of congestion and our overall carbonr footprint. In recognition of the positive impacts resulting froff m Reston Station’s design, the
development has been awarded the designation of Best Workplaces for Commuters each year since 2020 by the Best Workplaces
for Commuters Organization, coordinated by the National Center forff Transit Research at the Center forff Urbar n Transportation
Research.

SoSo ici lal (HumHH an CCa ipia taii l)l)

We st irive to create extraordidina yry lplaces andd pro idvide exceptiionall expe iriences iin lplaces hwhere peo lpl le liive, wo krk, a d lnd pl yay. We
recognignize hthe viital il importance of commu ini yty eng ggagement iin hachiievingving hithis ggoall, hwhiich ih is why phihy philla h inthropic partner hshiip hs have
lalways beys been ka k yey focus. We hhost a va irietyy of commu ini yty even i hts in the p blubliic spaces we ddevellop, iaimedd at creatiingg riichh a dnd
meaniinggf lulff expe iriences. We suppor lt loc lal organiganizatiions hthroughugh hchariitablbla e events, including Boys & Girls Club of Greater
Washington, Habia tat forff Humanity, St. Jude Children’s Research Hospital, multiple youth sports organizations and local schools,
and others. We partner with Cornerstones, Reston’s leading non-profitff dedicated to helping underserved populations, to purchase
winter coats forff children and contribute meals to those in need. We encourage all employees to participate in charitabla e effortff s in
the community by providing paid leave to volunteer and numerous charitabla e contribution matching opportunities.

kA k yey to our succes is is our bability toility to attract andd r ietain a ltalent ded wo kfrkforce thhat u dndersta dnds hthe numer bous benefifits of wo kirki gng iin-
offififf ce ra hther hthan remotelyly. We e lmployy a didiverse, lmultii-ggenera itionall staff hthat consiisted fd of 172 fullll-tiime a dnd 28 part-tiime
employeployees as of Dece bmber 31, 2023. We promote collllabbora atiion, supporu t, and id innova ition, providingn, providing lalll our employeployees hthe
opportu ini yty to hachiieve hth ieir profe issionall a dnd wellllnes gs goalls. We contiinuouslyly st irive to didiversififyy off ur wo kfrkforce, providide e lqual
access to opportu ini ities to lour people, andd promote a workingorking en ivironmen bt b dased on mutu lal trusr t, confididff ence, andd respect. Our
employeployees hhave access to a compr hehen isive suiite f bof benefifits i, inclluding, but notding, but not li ilimitedd to, medidi lcal d, den ltal, ivi ision, and ld lifife
iinsurance optiions; flleff iblxible a d hnd he lal hth savingsvings accounts; 401k plan matching; and professional development reimbursement. We
offeff r numerous wellness initiatives and training opportunities, including diversity training and a broad suite of e-learningr courses.
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GGovernance

Our employees, managers and offiff cers conduct our business under the direction of our CEO and the oversight of our Board of
Directors (the “Board”) to enhance our long-term value for ourff stockholders. The core responsibility of our Board is to exercise its
fiduciary duty to act in the best interests of our Company and our stockholders. In exercising this obligation, our Board and its
individual committees perform several specific funcff tions, including risk assessment, review and oversight. While management is
responsible for the day-to-day management of risk, our Board retains oversight of risk management for our company, assisting
management by providing guidance on strategic risks, financial risks, and operational risks.

We have establa ished corporrr ate governance guidelines and policies that promote Company values, including a code of conduct as
well as a code of ethics. Our information security team deploys an array of cybersecurity capabilities to protect our various
business systems and data. We continually invest in protecting against, monitoring, and mitigating risks across the enterprise. We
had no material publicly reportabla e inforff mation security incidents in the fiscal year ended Dece bmber .31, 2023

Competition

The real estate asset management and services industry irr s highly competitive. We compete with other businesses in the asset
management and real estate-related services businesses on the basis of price, location, experience, service and reputation. Many of
these competitors are larger than us, operate on a national or global scale, and some have access to greater technical, marketing
and finff ancial resources. These competitors may benefitff from lower costs of capital, greater business scale, enhanced operating
effiff ciencies, and greater immunity to localized market downturns due to their broad geographic presence. We also face numerous
competitors on a local and regional basis. Certain competitors may also possess greater access to capital, higher risk tolerance,
lower returt n thresholds, or less regulatory rrr estrictions, all which could allow them to consider a broader range of investments and
to bid more aggressively for investment opportunities than we are willing to.

Technology and Intellectual Property

We utilize our technology infrastructurt e to faciff litate the management of our client’s assets and the marketing of our services. We
use media and internet-based marketing platforff ms primarily in lieu of print advertisements. We believe that the prospective
renters will continue to increase their reliance on inforff mation availabla e on the internet to help guide their decisions. Accordingly,
through our marketing efforts, we will continue to leverage this trend to lower per lease marketing costs while maximizing
potential lease transactions.

Our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chairman of the Board, Christopher Clemente, has licensed his ownership interest in the
“Comstock” brand and trademark to us in perperr tuity. We have registered our trademarks and routinely take steps, and
occasionally take legal action, to protect against brand infringement from third parties. Mr. Clemente has retained the right to
continue to use the “Comstock” brand and trademark including for real estate development projeo cts in our current or future
markets that are unrelated to the Company but, currently, substantially all of Mr. Clemente’s real estate development business is
conducted with Comstock, pursuant to the 2022 AMA.

Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters

We are subject to various local, state and fedff eral statutt es, ordinances, rulrr es and regulations concerning finance, banking,
investments, zoning, building design, construcr tion, density requirements and similar matters. We may also be subju ect to periodic
delays or may be precluded entirely froff m developing in certain communities dued to building moratoriums or “slow-growth” or
“no-growth” initiatives that could be implemented in the futff urt e in the states where we operate. Local and state governments also
have broad discretion regarding the imposition of development feeff s for projff ects in their jurisdiction.

We are also subject to a variety of local, state, and federal statutes, ordinances, rulr es and regulations concerning protection of the
environment. Some of the laws to which we and our properties are subju ect to may impose requirements concerning development
in waters of the United States, including wetlands, the closure of water supplu y wells, management of asbestos-containing
materials, exposure to radon and similar issues. The particular environmental laws that appla y to any given real estate asset vary
based on several factors, including the environmental conditions related to a particular property and the present and formff er uses of
the property.
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Additional Information

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in 2004. Our principal executive offices are located at 1900
Reston Metro Plaza, 10th Floor, Reston, VA 20190, and our telephone number is 703-230-1985. Our corporate website address is
www.Comstock.com.

We maintain an investor relations page on our website where our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K, amendments to those reports and other required SEC filings may be accessed freff e of charge as soon
as reasonably practicable afteff r such material is electronically filed with, or furniff shed to, the SEC.

Our IntII ernet website and the information contained thett rein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporr ated into this
Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Maii nagea ment and StrSS ategytt

To mitigate cybersecurity risks we strive to continually assess and improve our processes and procedurd es. We engage with
industry-rr leading managed security service providers to supplu ement our effortff s in identifying,ff assessing, preventing, and
responding to cybersecurity threats. We are working to align our information technology operations and information security
processes to the National Institutt e of Standards and Technology’s fraff mework. We have adopted a cloud-first strategy which is a
foundational element to our overall cybersecurity posture. For essential systems, we utilize SaaS-based software partners who
annually conduct Statement on Standards forff Attestation Engagements.

We have adopted a cybersecurity risk management process that is designed to identify aff nd mitigate potential cybersecurity risks
and is currently being integrated into our overall enterprise risk management process. We regularly assess our cybersecurity
vulnerabia lity by utilizing credible, third-party cybersecurity experts to conduct annual internal penetration tests and monthly
vulnerabia lity scans. These threat intelligence and monitoring activities, tests, and scans help us identify pff otential cybersecurity
risks.

We seek to mitigate cybersecurity risks we identify tff hrough a variety of methods; however, we kacknowlledgedge hthat even a r bobust,
wellll-dde isiggned id inforff ma ition te hch lnol gyogy controll e invironment m yay not fullylly leli iiminate cybeybersecu iri yty irisk.sk It iis pos isiblble thhat we willill
be unablbe unable t do detect cer itain lvulnerabibia li ilitie is in tiime to remedidiate thhem, or hthat our i limplement ded controlls mayy not operate as
iinte d dnded.

To date, we have not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents. We remain subju ect to the risks from ycybbersecu irity thty threats
hthat i, if r lealiiz ded, are reas blonably ly likik lelyy to materiiallllyy affecff t thhe Companyy’ bs busiiness str gategyy, resullts of opera itions, or fiinff i lancial
co dindi ition.

Governance

Our Board of Directors considers cybersecurity as part of its risk oversight function. While management is responsible for the
day-to-day management of risk, our Board of Directors maintains oversight of management’s implementation of our cybersecurity
risk management processes. Our Board of Directors receives briefinff gs on material cybersecurity incidents, as necessary.

Our Vice President of Information Technology provides principal oversight and guidance of our cybersecurity risk management
strategy, programs, and processes. The Vice President of Information Technology has over 30 years of experience in information
technology, leading organizations through strategic technology and process improvement initiatives, including over 15 years of
extensive experience in cybersecurity. He is supported by a team of technical experts who have received forff mal training and
possess relevant experience in addition to managed cybersecurity service providers who specialize in preventing, identifying, and
responding to cybersecurity threats.

As part of our annual enterprr ise risk assessment, technology cybersecurity risks are ranked and reviewed by management. In the
event of a cybersecurity incident, the Vice President of Information Technology would prepare a comprehensive assessment forff
management that summarizes potential and actuat l impacts and includes any steps needed to remediate the identified issues. If the
cybersecurity incident was deemed to be material by management, the Vice President of Information Technology would brief our
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Board of Directors on the matter, at which time determinations would be made by the Board of Directors on the need to report or
disclose the cybersecurity incident to our customers or investors.

Item 2. Properties

On November 1, 2020, we executed a lease to relocate our corporate headquarters to office space located at 1900 Reston Metro
Plaza in Reston, Virginia for a ten-year term. In January 2022, we executed a lease forff a remote monitoring center forff ParkX, our
parking management subsidiary, and in November 2022 we executed a lease to expand our corporate headquarters, bringing the
total amount of leased space to 25,630 square feet as of December 31, 2023. We believe our properties are adequately maintained
and suitabla e for our neff eds and their intended use.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Currently, we are not subju ect to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, however, we are named as a defendant in legal
actions arising froff m our normal business activities. Although we cannot accurately predict the amount of our liabia lity, if any, that
could arise with respect to legal actions filed against us, it is not anticipated that any such liabia lity will have a material adverse
effeff ct on our financial position, operating results, or cash floff ws. We believe that we have obtained adequate insurance coverage,
rights to indemnification, or where appra opriate, have established reserves in connection with these legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not appla icable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Class A common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “CHCI”. As of December 31, 2023, there
were 37 registered holders of record of our Class A common stock and 1 holder of our Class B common stock.

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common
stock durd ing the foreseeable future and intend to retain any earnings for futurff e growth of our business.

We did not repurchase any securities under our share repurchase program or issue any unregistered securities durd ing the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Item 6. [RESERVED]R

Not Applicable.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The folff lowing discii ussion and analysll is should bl e read in conjunction with our consolidatdd ed financial statements att nd related notes
and other finff ancial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. All references to “2023” and “2022”
are referring to the twett lve-month ptt eriod ended December 31 forff each of those respes ctive fisff cal years. This section of to hitt s Aii nnual
Repore t on ForFF m 10-K generally discii usses 2023 and 2022 items and year-to-year comparm isons between 2023 and 2022. The
following discii ussion may ca ontain forff ward-ldd ooking statements ttt hattt reflee ct our plans and expectations. Our actual results could
diffei r materially from those anticipated by these forff ward-ldd ooking statements dtt uedd to the facff tors discii ussed elsewhere in this Annual
Repore t on ForFF m 10-K. We do not undertake,kk and specifii cally discii laim, any obligation to updatu e any forward-looking statements
to reflee ct the occurrence of events or ctt ircumstances afteff r the dattt e of so uch statements ett xcepee t as required by lb aw.

Overview

We are a leading asset manager, developer, and operator of mixed-use and transit-oriented properties in the Washington, D.C.
region. We have become the area’s premier real estate service company by creating extraordinary places, delivering exceptional
experiences, and generating excellent results for all stakeholders.

We provide a comprehensive suite of real estate services to our asset-owning clients, including asset management, property
management, development and construcrr tion management, and more. Our client base is composed primarily of institutional real
estate investors, high net worth family offiff ces, finff ancial institutions, and governmental bodies seeking to develop real estate they
own through public-private partnerships. We employ a talented staff of rff eal estate profesff sionals that are led by our seasoned
management team and are tasked with delivering high-quality services to the premium, strategically located assets in our managed
portfolff io.

We primarily operate under long-term asset management and property management agreements that provide recurring fee-based
revenue streams. Our asset management services platform is anchored by a long-term, fulff l-service asset management agreement
with an affiff liate that includes a cost-plus feeff structurt e and covers all of the properties in our Anchor Portfolio (the "2022 AMA" -
see below for additional details). As a vertically integrated real estate services company, we perform all property management
services through three wholly owned subsidiaries: CHCI Commercial, CHCI Residential, and ParkX Management ("ParkX"). All
properties included in our managed portfolff io have entered into property management agreements with our operational subsidiaries
that provide for market-rate fees related to our services.

Our asset-light, debt-free business model allows us to subsu tantially mitigate risks that are typically associated with real estate
development and operation. The fee-ff based appra oach we have adopted helps drive consistent, predictable top-line growth and
provides us with a streamlined balance sheet that grants us maximum fleff xibility to explore potential growth opportunities outside
of our core business operations.

We distinguish ourselves from industry prr eers through an establa ished standard of excellence that extends from who we hire to how
we deliver our broad suite of real estate services. We are able maintain this high standard because We Show Up - every drr ay, in
person, in a collabora ative environment that is strucrr tured to deliver on our mission to make a differeff nce for ourff customers, our
stakeholders, and in the communities that we serve.

Managed Portfolio

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the operating assets that are included in our managed portfolff io:

Type # of Assets Size/Scale % Leased
Commercial 13 2.0 million sqft. 92%
Residential 6 1.8 million sqft. / ~1,700 units 97%
Parking 30 1 18,000+ spaces
Total 49

1 Total includes 13 commercial parking garages owned by unaffiliated parties and managed by ParkX.

In addition, we manage the folff lowing assets that are under construcrr tion and scheduled for delivery in trr he next 12 to 24 months:

3• commerciiall assets hthat represent appra ioximatelymately 600,000 square feet;

1• re isiddentiial al sset with 420 units representing approximately 430,000 square feet;
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• 1 JW Marriott-branded hotel/condominium with 243 keys and 95 residential units representing a total of approximately
520,000 square feet; and

• 2 commercial parking garages with approximately 2,900 spaces.

Our development pipeline currently includes 5 commercial assets that represent approxia mately 1.5 million square feet, 6
residential assets with 2,599 units that represent appa roximately 2.8 million square feet, and 1 hotel that will include 140 keys. At
full build out, our managed portfolff io of assets is currently projected to total 68 assets representing nearly 10 million square feet.

The folff lowing tabla es provide further details on our managed portfolff io:

Anchor Portfolio
Name Status Description

Reston Station
Operating +

Under Construcr tion +
In Development

Among the largest mixed-use, transit-oriented developments in the Washington, D.C.
region, covering nearly 90 acres spanning the Dulles Toll Road and surrounding the
Wiehle Reston-East Metro Station and strategically located mid-way between Tysons, Va.
and Dulles International Airport on Metro's Silver Line (Fairfax County, Va.)

Loudoun Station Operating +
In Development

Loudoun County’s firff st fully integrated mixed-use, transit-oriented development located at
the terminus station, Metro's Ashburn Station on the Silver Line in Ashburn, Va (Loudoun
County, Va.)

Herndon Station In Development
Located in the Historic Downtown District of the Town of Herndon, Va., this planned
mixed-use development is subject of a public-private partnership with the Town of
Herndon

Other Portfolio Assets
me Status Description

The Hartforff d Operating
Acquired in 2019, this 211,000 square foot mixed-use building is located adjad cent to the
Clarendon Station on Metro's Orange Line and is the subju ect of a joint venturt e with
DivcoWest and Comstock Partners, LC. The premier officff e tower in the Ballston Corridor
submu arket of Arlington County, Va.

BLVD Forty Four Operating

Acquired in 2021, this 15-story, mixed-use 250-unit, luxury hr igh-rise apartment tower is
located adjad cent to BLVD Ansel and just 1 block froff m the Rockville Station on Metro’s
Red Line in Rockville, Md (Montgomery Cr ounty) and is the subju ect of a joint venture with
Comstock Partners, LC. The two-building complex is the premier residential offering in
Rockville Town Center.

BLVD Ansel Operating

Acquired in 2022, this 18-story, mixed-use 250-unit, luxury hr igh-rise apartment tower is
located adjad cent to BLVD Forty Four and just 1 block froff m the Rockville Station on
Metro’s Red Line in Rockville, Md (Montgomery Cr ounty) and is the subju ect of a joint
venture with Comstock Partners, LC. The two-building complex is the premier residential
offeff ring in Rockville Town Center.

Comstock 41 Operating
Acquired in 2023, this 18,150 square foot parcel located at 41 Maryland Ave. in
Rockville, Md. and is adjacent to BLVD Forty Four; currently a surface parking lot
operated by ParkX Management, LC; provides an excellent opportunity for significant
value enhancement through by-right entitlements forff approximately 117 residential units

Investors X Operating Investment in Comstock Investors X, LC that owns legacy homebuilding assets that are
currently being monetized through market-rate sales expected to be completed in 2024

Parking Operating Commercial parking garages & spaces managed by ParkX Management, LC located at
affiff liated properties and third-party locations

Comstock 41 - Additioii nal InfII orff mationrr

Given its proximity to BLVD 44, we plan to explore rezoning opportunities at Comstock 41 that would allow forff potential
relocation of moderately-priced dwelling units from BLVD 44 to Comstock 41 as well as utilization of excess parking capaa city at
both BLVD 44 and BLVD Ansel. In conjunction with the acquisition, we entered into a contingent fee agreement with BLVD 44
should these pursuits prove successfulff (See Note 14 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information).

We intend to maintain a limited finff ancial role in any futff urt e development activities that may occur at this site and plan to only
offeff r fee-ff based development and asset management services to any affiff liate or suitabla e third-party financial sponsor of any
potential futurff e developments.
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Significant Developments

CES Divestiture

On March 31, 2022, we completed the sale of Comstock Environmental Services, LLC ("CES"), a wholly owned subsidiary, to
August Mack Environmental, Inc. ("August Mack"). This strategic divestiture was based on the continued growth and futuret
prospects of our asset management business. Accordingly, we have reflected CES as a discontinued operation in our consolidated
financial statements forff all periods presented, and unless otherwise noted, all amounts and disclosures relate solely to our
continuing operations. (See Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information).

Series C PrePP fee rred StoSS ck Redemption and 2022 Asset ManMM agement Agreement

On June 13, 2022, we completed two separate significant transactions to further deleverage our balance sheet and enhance our
long-term revenue outlook and growth potential. The firff st one with CP Real Estate Services, LC (“CPRES”), an entity owned by
Christopher Clemente, Comstock’s Chief Executive Officer, redeemed all outstanding Series C preferred stock at a significant
discount to carrying value. Secondly, we executed a new asset management agreement with Comstock Partners, LC ("CP"), an
entity controlled by Mr. Clemente and wholly owned by Mr. Clemente and certain family members, which covers our Anchor
Portfolio of assets (the "2022 AMA"). The 2022 AMA increased the base feesff we collect, expanded the services that qualify fff orff
additional supplemental feeff s, extended the term through 2035, and most notably introduced a mark-to-market incentive feeff based
on the imputed profitff of Anchor Portfolio assets, generally as each is stabilized and as furff ther specified in the agreement. (See
Notes 10 and 14 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information).

Outlook

We aspire to be among the most admired real estate asset managers, operators, and developers by creating extraordinary places,
providing exceptional experiences, and generating excellent results for all stakeholders. Our commitment to this mission drives
our ability to expand our managed portfolff io of assets, grow revenue, and deliver value to our shareholders.

Our real estate development and asset management operations are primarily located in the greater Washington, D.C. area, where
we believe our decades of experience provides us with the best opportunity to continue developing, managing, and investing in
high-quality real estate assets and capitalizing on positive growth trends.

We plan to pursue furff ther expansion of our wholly owned property management subsidiaries to increase recurring, fee-based
revenue streams as we continue to develop additional relationships with new customers that require the expert real estate asset
management, development management, construcr tion management and other services that we routinely provide.

We believe that we are properly staffed forff current market conditions and feelff that we will maintain the abia lity to manage risk and
pursue additional growth across each of our operational subsidiaries. Given current market conditions, we feelff more opportunities
to acquire distressed properties at below market prices may arise. We remain well-positioned to capitalize on such opportunities
due to our asset-light, debt-free business model that has strengthened our balance sheet and provided us with the fleff xibility to
pursue unique growth opportunities across all facets of our vertically integrated operating platforff m.

COVID-19 Update

On May 11, 2023, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services declared an end to the public health emergency forff
COVID-19. While we never experienced any significant impacts on our business resulting froff m COVID-19, future regional or
global health emergencies may have a negative impact on our results of operations and finff ancial condition. Although the long-
term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the greater Washington, D.C. area real estate market remains uncertain, we believe
that our Anchor Portfolio is well positioned to withstand any future potential negative impacts.
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Results of Operations

The folff lowing tabla es set forff th consolidated statement of operations data for the periods presented (in thousands):

ar Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue $ 44,721 $ 39,313
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue 33,040 29,371
Selling, general, and administrative 2,305 1,784
Depreciation and amortization 212 206
Total operating costs and expenses 35,557 31,361

Income (loss) from operations 9,164 7,952
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net 96 (222)
Gain (loss) on real estate ventures (1,187) 121
Other income (expense), net 79 2
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax 8,152 7,853
Provision for (benefit froff m) income tax 368 125
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 7,784 7,728
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (381)
Net income (loss) $ 7,784 $ 7,347
Impact of Series C preferred stock redemption — 2,046
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ 7,784 $ 9,393

Comparison of the YeaYY rs Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Revenue

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes revenue by line of business (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 Change

Amount % Amount % $ %
Asset management $ 29,278 65.5% $ 26,680 67.9% $ 2,598 9.7 %
Property management 10,604 23.7% 9,398 23.9% 1,206 12.8 %
Parking management 4,839 10.8% 3,235 8.2% 1,604 49.6 %
Total revenue $ 44,721 100.0% $ 39,313 100.0% $ 5,408 13.8 %

Revenue increased 13.8% in 2023. The $5.4 million comparative increase was primarily driven by the continued expansion of our
managed portfolff io, which included 8 additional assets in 2023. Recurring asset management and property management feeff -based
revenue increased by a combined $3.0 million, or 12.6%, and reimbursabla e staffing charges increased $2.1 million, or 25.3%.
Incentive feeff revenue also increased 22.7% to $4.8 million, however that increase was offsff et by a $0.8 million decrease in
supplu emental leasing, acquisition, and development feeff revenue due to higher transactional volume in 2022.
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Operating costs and expensx esp g p

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes operating costs and expenses (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %

Cost of revenue $ 33,040 $ 29,371 $ 3,669 12.5 %
Selling, general, and administrative 2,305 1,784 521 29.2 %
Depreciation and amortization 212 206 6 2.9 %
Total operating costs and expenses $ 35,557 $ 31,361 $ 4,196 13.4 %

Operating costs and expenses increased 13.4% in 2023. The $4.2 million comparative increase was primarily dued to a $2.6 million
increase in personnel expenses from increased headcount and employee compensation. Also driving the variance were a $0.4
million increase in rent expense stemming froff m the corporate headquarters lease expansion that was executed in 2022, a $0.3
million increase in regulatory arr nd compliance costs, and a $0.2 million increase in IT expenditures.

Othett r income (expen(( se)( p( )

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes other income (expense) (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Change
2023 2022 $ %

Interest income (expense), net $ 96 $ (222) $ 318 (143.2)%
Gain (loss) on real estate ventures (1,187) 121 (1,308) N/M
Other income (expense), net 79 2 77 N/M
Total other income (expense) $ (1,012) $ (99) $ (913) N/M

Other income (expense) changed by $(0.9) million in 2023, primarily driven by primarily driven by a $1.3 million net decrease in
mark-to-market valuations of equity method investments in real estate ventures, primarily due to the increased interest rate
environment. The decrease was partially offsff et by a $0.3 million increase in interest income (expense) that stemmed froff m interest
earned on money market sweep accounts in 2023 and the full pay down of our outstanding debt in 2022.

Income taxesaa

Provision for income tax was $0.4 million in 2023, compared to 0.1 million in 2022. The $0.3 million increase was primarily dued
to higher pre-tax book income given that valuation allowance releases and the net total of book-to-tax adjud stments were
comparatively flat.ff As of December 31, 2023, we had $122.8 million of net operating loss (“NOL") carryfrr orff wards.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To provide investors with additional inforff mation regarding our financial results, we prepare certain financial measures that are not
calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), specifically Adjud sted
EBITDA.

We define Adjud sted EBITDA as net income (loss) from continuing operations, excluding the impact of interest expense (net of
interest income), income taxes, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, and mark-to-market valuation gain
(loss) on equity method investments in real estate ventures.

We use Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate finff ancial performance, analyze the underlying trends in our business and establa ish
operational goals and forff ecasts that are used when allocating resources. We expect to compute Adjusted EBITDA consistently
using the same methods each period.

We believe Adjud sted EBITDA is a useful measure because it permits investors to better understand changes over comparative
periods by providing financial results that are unaffected by certain non-cash items that are not considered by management to be
indicative of our operational performance.

While we believe that Adjud sted EBITDA is usefulff to investors when evaluating our business, it is not prepared and presented in
accordance with GAAP, and thereforff e should be considered supplu emental in naturt e. Adjud sted EBITDA should not be considered
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in isolation, or as a substitutt e for otheff r finff ancial performance measures presented in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA
may diffeff r froff m similarly titled measures presented by other companies.

The folff lowing tabla e presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) from continuing operations, the most directly comparable
financial measure as measured in accordance with GAAP, to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 7,784 $ 7,728
Interest (income) expense, net (96) 222
Income taxes 368 125
Depreciation and amortization 212 206
Stock-based compensation 968 834
(Gain) loss on real estate ventures 1,187 (121)

Adjud sted EBITDA $ 10,423 $ 8,994

Seasonality and Quarterly Fluctuations

None.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is defined as the current amount of readily availabla e cash and the abia lity to generate adequate amounts of cash to meet
the current needs forff cash. We assess our liquidity in terms of our cash and cash equivalents on hand and the abia lity to generate
cash to fund our opeff rating activities.

Our principal sources of liquidity as of December 31, 2023, were our cash and cash equivalents of $18.8 million and our
$10.0 million of availabla e borrowings on our Credit Facility.

Significant factors which could affect future liquidity include the adequacy of availabla e lines of credit, cash floff ws generated fromff
operating activities, working capital management and investments.

Our primary capital needs are for working capital obligations and other general corporate purposes, including investments and
capital expenditures. Our primary sources of working capital are cash froff m operations and distributions from investments in real
estate ventures. We have historically financed our operations with internally generated fundsff and borrowings from our credit
facilities. (See Note 7 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information).

We believe we currently have adequate liquidity and availabia lity of capital to fund our prff esent operations and meet our
commitments on our existing debt.

Cash Flowsll

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our cash floff ws for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 Change ($)

Continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 9,003 $ 8,397 $ 606
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1,547) (2,099) 552
Net cash provided by (used in) finff ancing activities (390) (10,068) 9,678
Total net increase (decrease) in cash - continuing operations 7,066 (3,770) 10,836

Discontinued operations, net — (331) 331
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 7,066 $ (4,101) $ 11,167
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Operating Activitiesp g

The $0.6 million variance in net operating cash activity was primarily driven by a $1.9 million increase in net income fromff
continuing operations afteff r adjustments for non-ff cash items, partially offsff et by a $1.3 million incremental cash outflow stemming
from changes to our net working capia tal that was primarily dued to decreased accruerr d personnel costs.

Investing Activitiesg

The $0.6 million variance net investing cash activity was primarily driven by a $1.1 million decrease in investments in real estate
ventures and a $0.4 million decrease in fixed asset purchases, partially offsff et by $1.0 million in proceeds received froff m the CES
divestiture that was finff alized in the firff st quarter of fiscal year 2022.

Financing Activitiesg

hThe $$9.7 illimillion va iriance iin net fiinff an ici gng cashh acti iivityy was priima irilyly ddriiven byby a $4.0 million cash payment made in 2022 related
to the early redemption of Series C Preferred Stock and a $5.5 million payment made in 2022 to satisfy the outstanding balance of
our credit facility.

Off-Bff alance Sheet Arrangements

From time to time, we may have off-bff alance-sheet unconsolidated investments in real estate ventures and other unconsolidated
arrangements with varyingrr structurt es. (See Note 5 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional informff ation).

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. Accounting policies, methods and estimates are an
integral part of the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and, in part, are based uponu
management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience with regard to past and
current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting policies, methods and estimates are particularly sensitive
because of their significance to the consolidated financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affeff cting
them may diffeff r froff m management’s current judgments. While there are a number of accounting policies, methods and estimates
affeff cting our consolidated financial statements, areas that are particularly significant include:

• Investments in real estate ventures
• Revenue - Incentive Fees
• Income taxes

Investments itt n rii eal estattt e vtt entures

For investments in real estate ventures that we have elected to report at faiff r value, we maintain an investment account that is
increased or decreased each reporting period by contributions, distributions, and the differeff nce between the faiff r value of the
investment and the carrying varr lue as of the balance sheet date. These fair value adjustments are reflected as gains or losses in our
consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of these investments as of the balance sheet date is generally determined
using a discounted cash floff w analysis, income approach, or sales-comparabla e approaa ch, depending on the unique characteristics of
the real estate venture.

In addition, we perform a two-step analysis to determine if our investments in real estate ventures qualify aff s a variable interest
entity (“VIE”) and need to be consolidated. We firff st analyze if the entity lacks suffiff cient equity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated finff ancial supporu t or if the equity holders, as a group, lack the characteristics of a controlling finff ancial
interest in order to determine VIE qualification. If an entity is determined to be a VIE, we then analyze if it is the primary
beneficiary to drr etermine if the entity needs to be included in its consolidated financial results. The primary beneficiary hrr as both (i)
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and (ii) the obligation to absorba
losses of the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the entity. We consider a
variety of factff ors in identifyingff the entity that holds the power to direct matters that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic
performance, including evaluating the nature of relationships and activities of the parties involved and, where necessary,
determining which party within a related-party group is most closely associated with the VIE and would therefore be considered
the primary beneficiary.rr We determine primary beneficiary srr tatus of a VIE at the time of investment and perform ongoing
reassessments to evaluate whether changes in the entity’s capital strucr ture or changes in the nature of its involvement with the
entity result in a change to the VIE designation or a change to its consolidation conclusion.
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We have minority voting and economic interests in our investments in real estate ventures that we have elected to report at fairff
value and do not control the activities that most significantly impact their economic performance. We have determined we are not
the primary beneficiary irr n these investments, and therefore do not consolidate them into our balance sheets as of December 31,
2023 and 2022 or into our statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Revenue - IncII entive FeesFF

Pursuant to the 2022 AMA, we are entitled to earn incentive compensation feesff revenue ("Incentive Fees") on certain managed
real estate assets if defined triggering events, which are differeff ntiated based on the classification of the assets, are achieved. (See
Note 14 for additional inforff mation).

Incentive Fees are calculated as a percentage of the imputed profit thff at would be realized upon the hypothetical sale or
recapia talization of the asset (or assets) forff which triggering event criteria were met. The calculation of imputed profitff is based on a
fair market value assessment that includes highly variabla e finff ancial inputs and must also consider macro-economic and
environmental factff ors that may affeff ct fair market value. Due to the subju ective and potentially volatile nature of this variable
consideration, we only recognize revenue on Incentive Fees forff each managed asset when 1) any material uncertainties associated
with the valuation of real estate assets that drive Incentive Fees are substantially resolved and 2) it is probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of related cumulative Incentive Fee revenue recognized will not occur. As a result, we only recognize
Incentive Fees at or near each asset's respective triggering event (as detailed in the 2022 AMA) when imputed profit could be
reasonably calculated and relied uponu to not materially change.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recognized revenue from Incentive Fees of $4.8 million and $3.9 million,
respectively. These operating asset triggering events are part of a series of annual operating asset triggering events that began on
October 1, 2022, and are scheduled each October 1 through 2024. Subsu equent to these scheduld ed triggering events, and in
accordance with terms pursuant to the 2022 AMA, incentive feeff s may be recognized on assets currently under development uponu
the achievement of future triggering events tied to various metrics that indicate stabia lization, such as occupancu y and leasing rates.
(See Note 14 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information).

Income taxesaa

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liabia lity method. Deferred tax assets and liabia lities are recognized for futff uret
tax consequences attributable to differences between the finff ancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabia lities and
their respective tax basis. The deferred tax assets and liabia lities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary drr iffereff nces are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax
rates on the deferred tax assets and liabia lities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. We provide a
valuation allowance when we consider it “more likely than not” (greater than a 50% probability) that a deferred income tax asset
will not be fully recovered. Adjud stments to the valuation allowance are a component of the income tax provision or benefit in our
consolidated statements of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we recorded net decreases to our deferred tax valuation allowance of $1.5
million and $1.1 million, respectively.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not appla icable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. (a Delaware corporation)
and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes
in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows forff each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “finff ancial statements”). In our opinion, the finff ancial statements present faiff rly, in all material
respects, the finff ancial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows forff each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opff inion

These finff ancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s finff ancial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. fedff eral securities laws and the appla icable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance abouta whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether dued to error
or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over finff ancial
reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over finff ancial reporting but not for
the purposrr e of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether dued to
error or fraff ud, and performing procedurd es that respond to those risks. Such procedurd es included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical audit matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the finff ancial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subju ective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the finff ancial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Realizability of Defee rred TaxTT Assets and Valuation Allowance Assessment

As described furff ther in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company assesses availabla e positive and negative
evidence to estimate whether suffiff cient futurff e taxable income will be generated to permit use of existing deferred tax assets. The
Company continues to record valuation allowances against deferff red tax assets when it is considered more likely than not that the
deferred tax asset will not be realized prior to expiration. During 2023, afteff r weighing all availabla e positive and negative
evidence, the Company released $1.5 million of the valuation allowance as management deemed estimated futurff e taxable income
to be sufficient to realize additional deferred tax assets related to net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.

The principal consideration for our deff termination that the realizability of deferred tax assets is a critical audit matter is that the
estimate of future taxable income is an accounting estimate subjeb ct to a high level of estimation uncertainty. There is inherent
uncertainty and subjectivity related to management’s judgments and assumptions regarding the Company’s futurff e taxable income,
the determination of which is complex in naturt e and may be affected by future operations of the Company and market or
economic conditions. As such, significant auditor judgment was required.
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Our audit procedurd es related to the realizability of deferred tax assets included the following, among others.

• We obtained an understanding of the design and tested implementation of controls relating to the evaluation of the
realizability of deferred tax assets and the estimation of future taxable income;

• We evaluated management’s assumptions regarding the Company’s estimated futurff e taxable income, including
comparison of previous forecasts to actuat l results and obtained support forff incremental changes appla ied to the prior
forecast;

• With the assistance of our income tax specialists, we evaluated the naturt e of each of the deferred tax assets, including
their expiration dates and their projeo cted utilization when compared to projections of future taxable income.

/s/ GRANTAA THORNTON LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

Arlington, Virginia
March 21, 2024
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COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except per share data)

December 31,
2023 2022

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,788 $ 11,722
Accounts receivable, net 496 504
Accounts receivable - related parties 4,749 3,291
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 353 264
Total current assets 24,386 15,781

Fixed assets, net 478 421
Intangible assets 144 144
Leasehold improvements, net 89 119
Investments in real estate ventures 7,077 7,013
Operating lease assets 6,790 7,625
Deferred income taxes, net 10,885 11,355
Deferred compensation plan assets 53 —
Other assets 37 15

Total assets $ 49,939 $ 42,473

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabia lities:
Accruer d personnel costs $ 4,681 $ 4,959
Accounts payable and accrued liabia lities 838 742
Current operating lease liabia lities 854 791
Total current liabia lities 6,373 6,492

Deferred compensation plan liabia lities 77 —
Operating lease liabia lities 6,273 7,127

Total liabia lities 12,723 13,619
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders' equity:
Series C preferff red stock; $0.01 par value; 20,000 shares authorized; none issued or
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 — —
Class A common stock; $0.01 par value; 59,780 shares authorized; 9,525 issued and
9,440 outstanding as of December 31, 2023; 9,337 issued and 9,252 outstanding as of
December 31, 2022 94 93
Class B common stock; $0.01 par value; 220 shares authorized, issued, and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 2 2
Additional paid-in capia tal 202,112 201,535
Treasury srr tock, at cost (86 shares of Class A common stock) (2,662) (2,662)
Accumulated deficitff (162,330) (170,114)
Total stockholders' equity 37,216 28,854
Total liabia lities and stockholders' equity $ 49,939 $ 42,473

See accompanying NotNN es to Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tements.tt
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COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue $ 44,721 $ 39,313
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue 33,040 29,371
Selling, general, and administrative 2,305 1,784
Depreciation and amortization 212 206
Total operating costs and expenses 35,557 31,361

Income (loss) from operations 9,164 7,952
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net 96 (222)
Gain (loss) on real estate ventures (1,187) 121
Other income (expense), net 79 2

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax 8,152 7,853
Provision for (benefit froff m) income tax 368 125

Net income (loss) from continuing operations 7,784 7,728
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — (381)

Net income (loss) $ 7,784 $ 7,347
Impact of Series C preferred stock redemption — 2,046

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ 7,784 $ 9,393

Weighted-average common stock outstanding:
Basic 9,629 8,974
Diluted 10,108 9,575

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic - Continuing operations $ 0.81 $ 1.09
Basic - Discontinued operations — (0.04)
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.81 $ 1.05

Diluted - Continuing operations $ 0.77 $ 1.02
Diluted - Discontinued operations — (0.04)
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 0.77 $ 0.98

See accompanying NotNN es to Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tements.tt
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COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operating Activities - Continuing Operations
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 7,784 $ 7,728
Adjud stments to reconcile net income (loss) from continuing operations to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 212 206
Stock-based compensation 968 834
(Gain) loss on real estate venturt es 1,187 (121)
Distributions from real estate venturt es 44 162
Deferred income taxes 470 (55)
Accruerr d interest income (48) —
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets 9 —
(Gain) loss on deferred compensation plan 1 —

Changes in operating assets and liabia lities:
Accounts receivable (1,450) (1,932)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (41) (67)
Accruerr d personnel costs (278) 1,491
Accounts payable and accruerr d liabia lities 26 (41)
Deferred compensation plan liabia lities 75 —
Other assets and liabia lities 44 192
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 9,003 8,397

Investing Activities - Continuing Operations
Investments in real estate venturt es (1,583) (2,709)
Proceeds froff m sale of CES — 1,016
Distributions from real estate venturt es 335 220
Purchase of deferred compensation plan securities (52) —
Purchase of fixed assets/leasehold improvements/intangibles (247) (626)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1,547) (2,099)

Financing Activities - Continuing Operations
Payments under credit faciff lity - dued to affiff liates — $ (5,500)
Redemption of Series C Preferred Stock — (4,000)
Payment of taxes related to the net share settlement of equity awards (390) (568)

Net cash provided by (used in) finff ancing activities (390) (10,068)

Discontinued Operations
Operating cash floff ws, net — (305)
Investing cash floff ws, net — —
Financing cash floff ws, net — (26)

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations — (331)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,066 (4,101)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 11,722 15,823
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 18,788 $ 11,722

Supplemental Cash Flow Inforff mation
Net cash paid (received) for:
Interest $ (48) $ 222
Income taxe 2s $6 92

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Issuance of Series A common stock to redeem Series C preferred stock $ — $ 4,230
Right of use assets and lease liabia lities at commencement — 1,224

See accompanying NotNN es to Consolidatdd ed Financial StaS tements.tt
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COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except per share data or otherwise indicated)

1. Company Overview

Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. ("Comstock" or the "Company"), founded in 1985 and incorporated in the state of Delaware
in 2004, is a leading asset manager, developer, and operator of mixed-use and transit-oriented properties in the Washington, D.C.
metropolitan area.

On March 31, 2022, the Company completed the sale of Comstock Environmental Services, LLC ("CES"), a wholly owned
subsu idiary, to August Mack Environmental, Inc. ("August Mack") for approxia mately $1.4 million of total consideration. (See Note
3 forff additional inforff mation).

On June 13, 2022, the Company completed two separate significant transactions to further deleverage its balance sheet and
enhance its long-term revenue outlook and growth potential. The first one with CP Real Estate Services, LC (“CPRES”), an entity
owned by Christopher Clemente, Comstock’s Chief Executive Officer, redeemed all outstanding Series C preferred stock at a
significant discount to carrying value. Secondly, the Company executed a new asset management agreement with Comstock
Partners, LC ("CP"), an entity controlled by Mr. Clemente and wholly owned by Mr. Clemente and certain family members,
which covers its Anchor Portfolio of assets (the "2022 AMA"). (See Notes 10 and 14 for additional information).

The Company operates through four primarily real estate-focused subsidiaries – CHCI Asset Management, LC (“CAM”); CHCI
Residential Management, LC; CHCI Commercial Management, LC; and Park X Management, LC.

2. Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies

Basis oii f Po resePP ntattt iontt

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company and its consolidated subsu idiaries.
Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to
current period presentation.

The Company has refleff cted CES as a discontinued operation in its consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented.
Unless otherwise noted, all amounts and disclosures throughout these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements relate to the
Company's continuing operations. (See Note 3 for additional inforff mation).

Use of Eo stEE imatt tes

The preparation of finff ancial statements in conforff mity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affeff ct the reported amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant items subju ect to such estimates
include, but are not limited to, the valuation of equity method investments, incentive feeff revenue recognition, and the valuation of
deferred tax assets. Assumptions made in the development of these estimates contemplate both the macroeconomic landscapea and
the Company's anticipated results, however actuat l results may diffeff r materially from these estimates.

Fiscii al Year

Comstock uses a fisff cal reporting calendar which begins on January 1 and ends on December 31. The fisff cal years presented are the
years ended December 31, 2023 (“2023”) and December 31, 2022 (“2022”). Each of the Company’s fisff cal quarters ends on the
last day of the calendar month.

Segme ent InfII orff mationrr

Operating segments are defined as components of a business that can earn revenue and incur expenses for which discrete financial
information is evaluated on a regular basis by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) in order to decide how to allocate
resources and assess performance. The Company's CODM, its chief executive officer, primarily reviews consolidated results of
operations to assess performance and make decisions on how to allocate resources, therefore the Company views its operations
and manages its business as one reportabla e operating segment.
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Cash and CasCC h Equivalenll ts

Ca hsh andd cashh e iquivallents are comp irisedd of cashh a dnd hshort-term iinvestments wi hith matu iri ities of thhree mo hnths or lless hwhen
ppur h dchased. Thhe Companyy’s cashh a dnd cashh e iquivallent is incllude holdingsde holdings iin h kcheckiingg a dnd overnigighht sweep iinvestment accounts, llall
of hwhiich hh hav de d iaily maly matu iri ities. Thhe car yryiingg amount of ca hsh eq iuivallents a ipproxia mates f iaiff r v lal due due hto the shhort-term matu iri yty of
hthes ie investments.

Accounts Rtt eceivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount invoiced. The Company records an allowance for doubtff ful accounts on an as-
needed basis to reducd e the trade accounts receivables balance by the estimated amounts that may become uncollectible in the
future. The allowance for doubtff ful accounts estimate is based on the accounts receivable aging report, historical collection
experience, and the payee's general financial condition. The Company does not record an allowance for doubtff ful accounts on
accounts receivable from related parties dued to the naturt e of the receivables and collection history. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company's allowance for doubtff ful accounts was $0.2 million.

Concentratiott ns of Creditdd Riskii

Financial instrumr ents that subju ect the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, and
accounts receivable froff m related parties. The Company invests a significant portion of its excess cash position into U.S. Treasury-
based fundsff through an automated overnight sweep investment account program administered by a brokerage firm affiff liated with
the bank at which the majority of our cash deposits are held. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents in finff ancial
institutions that management believes to be finff ancially sound and with minimal credit risk. At times, the Company's deposits
exceed federally insured limits, however management believes that the Company’s credit risk exposure is mitigated by the
financial strength of the banking institutions in which the deposits are held. The Company does a significant amount of business
with related parties, demonstrated by related parties accounting for 97.4% offf its consolidated revenue and 90.5% of its accounts
receivable in 2023. The Company generally does not obtain collateral or other security to supporu t finff ancial instruments subject to
credit risk and monitors the credit standing of its related party entities.

Investments itt n Rii eal EstEE attt e Vtt enVV tures

The Company holds investments in certain real estate ventures that qualify fff orff equity method accounting treatment. Based on
elections made at the investment date, the Company has elected to record certain equity method investments at faiff r value. With
this treatment, investments are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets and subsu equently remeasured at each
reporting period. The faiff r value of these investments as of the balance sheet date is generally determined using a discounted cash
flow analysis, income appra oach, or sales-comparabla e approaa ch, depending on the unique characteristics of the real estate venture.
Assumptions about the discount rate are based on a weighted average cost of capital built up from various interest rate
components appla icable to the Company. Assumptions about the growth rate and future financial performance of a reporting unit
are based on the Company's forff ecasts, business plans, economic projections and anticipated future cash floff ws. Market multiples
are derived from recent transactions among comparable real estate properties of similar size, construcrr t, and location. The net
change in the faiff r value of the investments is recorded on the consolidated statements of operations as other income (expense).

In addition, the Company performs an analysis on its investments in real estate ventures to determine if they qualify aff s a variable
interest entity (“VIE”). For an entity in which we have acquired an interest, the entity will be considered a VIE if either of the
following characteristics are met: (i) the entity lacks suffiff cient equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support, or (ii) equity holders, as a group, lack the characteristics of a controlling finff ancial interest. If an entity is
determined to be a VIE, the Company then determines if it is the primary beneficiary to drr etermine if the entity needs to be
included in its consolidated financial results. The primary beneficiary hrr as both (i) the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and (ii) the obligation to absora b lr osses of the VIE or the right to receive
benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the entity. The Company considers a variety of factff ors in identifyingff
the entity that holds the power to direct matters that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, including
evaluating the nature of relationships and activities of the parties involved and, where necessary, determining which party within a
related-party group is most closely associated with the VIE and would therefore be considered the primary beneficiary.rr The
Company determines primary brr eneficiaff ry status oft a VIE at the time of investment and performs ongoing reassessments to
evaluate whether changes in the entity’s capital strucrr ture or changes in the nature of its involvement with the entity result in a
change to the VIE designation or a change to its consolidation conclusion. (See Note 5 forff additional information).
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Fixeii d Assets

Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
usefulff lives, which are as folff lows:

Asset Class Estimated Useful Life
Leasehold improvements Shorter of asset life off r related lease term
Furniturt e and fixtures 7 years
Offiff ce equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Capia talized software 3 years

Evaluation of Lo ong-Li- ved Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabia lity of its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverabla e. Recoverabia lity is measured by comparing the carrying amount of the
asset to the future undiscounted cash floff ws the asset is expected to generate. If the asset is considered to be impaired, the amount
of any impairment is measured as the differeff nce between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset.

Goodwill and IntII angibltt e All ssets

On an annual basis, and at interim periods when circumstances require, the Company tests the recoverabia lity of any goodwill and
intangible assets balances that exist at that time and reviews for indicators of impairment. The Company performs impairment
assessments at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment, also
known as a component. To test for the recoverabia lity of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, the Company firff st
performs a qualitative assessment based on economic, industry arr nd company-specific factff ors forff all or selected reporting units to
determine whether the existence of events and circumstances indicates that it is more likely than not that the goodwill or
indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. Based on the results of the qualitative assessment, two additional steps in the
impairment assessment may be required. The firff st step would require a comparison of each reporting unit’s faiff r value to the
respective carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, a second step is performed to measure the amount of
impairment loss on a relative faiff r value basis, if any.

Fair Value MeaMM surement

The Company applies faiff r value accounting forff all finff ancial assets and liabia lities that are reported at faiff r value in the finff ancial
statements on a recurring basis. Fair value is definff ed as the price that would be received froff m selling an asset or paid to transfer a
liabia lity in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The accounting guidance establishes a
defined three-tier hierarchy to classify and disclose the fair value of assets and liabia lities on both the date of their initial
measurement as well as all subsu equent periods. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used to measure faiff r value by the lowest level
of input that is availabla e and significff ant to the fair value measurement. The three levels are described as follows:

• Level 1: Observable inputs. Quoted prices in active markets forff identical assets and liabia lities;

• Level 2: Observable inputs other than the quoted price. Includes quoted prices for similar instruments, quoted prices for
identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and amounts derived from valuation models where all significant
inputs are observable in active markets; and

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs. Includes amounts derived from valuation models where one or more significant inputs are
unobservable and require the Company to develop relevant assumptions.

The Company evaluates its financial assets and liabia lities subjeb ct to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to determine the
appropriate level of classification as of each reporting period.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement contains a lease and the classification of a lease, if applicable, is made at lease
commencement, at which time the Company also measures and recognizes a right-of-use ("ROU") asset, representing the
Company’s right to use the underlying asset, and a lease liabia lity, representing the Company’s obligation to make lease payments
under the terms of the arrangement. Operating lease assets and operating lease liabia lities are recognized based on the present value
of the futff urt e minimum lease payments (e.g., rent) over the lease term beginning at the commencement date. The operating lease
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assets are adjusted forff lease incentives, deferred rent, and initial direct costs, if incurred. The related lease expense is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company's leases generally do not include an implicit rate; therefore, an incremental borrowing rate is used that is based on
information availabla e at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of futurff e minimum lease payments. The
Company typically looks to floating interest rates charged under existing arrangements or current market interest rates at the time
of lease commencement when determining the incremental borrowing rate.

For the purposr e of recognizing operating lease assets and liabilities, the Company has elected the practical expedient to not
recognize an asset or lease liabia lity for short-term leases, which are leases with a term of twelve months or less. The lease term is
defined as the non-cancelable portion of the lease term plus any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonablya
certain that the option will be exercised.

Revenue

The Company’s revenue streams, revenue recognition policies, and cost of revenue details are summarized by the folff lowing:

Asset ManageMM ment/Ptt ropeo rty Mtt anMM agement/Ptt arkirr ngg p y g g

Asset management pricing associated with the 2022 AMA includes a cost-plus management feeff or a market-rate fee forff m of
variable consideration, and the Company earns whichever is higher. Revenue for other asset management contracts is generally in
the forff m of a monthly feeff based upon pru operty-level cash receipts or leasing agreements executed at the managed properties.

Property Management pricing is generally in the forff m of a monthly management feeff based upon pru operty-level cash receipts,
square footage under management, or some other variabla e metric. Parking management pricing is generally in the forff m of a fixed
monthly management feeff to include additional fixff ed fees for accounting, remote monitoring, ticketing, insurance, and various
other site-level services. In addition, property management and parking revenue includes reimbursabla e expenses such as payroll
and other employee costs for those performing services at managed properties.

Asset management, property management, and parking services represent a series of distinct daily services rendered over time.
The revenue these services is presented gross forff any services provided by the Company's employees and presented net of third-
party reimbursements in instances where the Company does not control third-party services delivered to the client. Consistent
with the transfer of control forff distinct, daily services to the customer, revenue is typically recognized at the end of each period for
the fees asff sociated with the services performed.

Financingg

Compensation forff commercial mortgage and structurt ed financing services is received via fees paid upon successfulff commercial
financing froff m third-party lenders. The earned fees arff e contingent upon the funding offf the loan, which represents the transferff of
control forff services to the customer. Thereforff e, the Company's performance obligation is satisfied at the point in time of the
funding of the loan when there is a present right to payment.

Leasingg

Compensation for prff oviding strategic advice and execution forff owners, investors, and occupiu ers is received in the form of a
commission. The commission is paid upon signing of the lease by the tenant, therefore the Company's performance obligation is
satisfied at the time of the contractuat l event, when there is a present right to payment.

Construction & Developmentp

Fees for projeo ct and development services for owners and occupiu ers of real estate are typically variable and based on a percentage
of the total project cost. Project and development services represent a series of performance obligations delivered over time;
thereforff e, the Company recognizes revenue over time for these services accordingly.

Incentive FeesFF

Pursuant to the 2022 AMA, incentive compensation feeff s revenue ("Incentive Fees") may be earned on certain managed real estate
assets if defined triggering events, which are differeff ntiated based on the classification of the assets, are achieved. (See Note 14 for
additional inforff mation).
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Incentive Fees are calculated as a percentage of the imputed profit thff at would be realized upon the hypothetical sale or
recapia talization of the asset (or assets) forff which triggering event criteria were met. The calculation of imputed profitff is based on a
fair market value assessment that includes highly variabla e finff ancial inputs and must also consider macro-economic and
environmental factff ors that may affeff ct fair market value. Due to the subju ective and potentially volatile nature of this variable
consideration, revenue is only recognized on Incentive Fees for each managed asset when 1) any material uncertainties associated
with the valuation of real estate assets that drive Incentive Fees are substantially resolved and 2) it is probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of related cumulative Incentive Fee revenue recognized will not occur. As a result, the Company only
recognizes Incentive Fees at or near each asset's respective triggering event (as detailed in the 2022 AMA) when imputed profitff
can be reasonably calculated and relied uponu to not materially change.

Cost of Revenuef

Cost of revenue is composed primarily of employment expenses for personnel dedicated to providing services to the Anchor
Portfolio as well as the costs and expenses of the Company related to maintaining the public listing of its shares and complying
with related regulatory arr nd reporting obligations pursuant to the 2022 AMA. It also includes payroll and other reimbursablea
expenses incurred under the Company's various property management agreements.

Stock-tt Ba- sed ComCC pem nsationtt

Stock-based compensation expense forff restricted stock units is measured based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock
on the grant date. The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the grant-date faiff r value of stock
option awards. The exercise price of stock option awards is set to equal the quoted closing market price of the underlying
common stock at the date of the grant. The folff lowing weighted-average assumptions are also used to calculate the estimated fairff
value of stock option awards:

• Expex cted volatility: The expected volatility of the Company’s shares is estimated using the historical stock price
volatility over the most recent period commensurate with the estimated expected term of the awards.

• Expex cted term: The Company determines the expected term by calculating the weighted-average period of time between
the grant date and exercise or post-vesting cancellation date of all outstanding stock options.

• Dividend yield: The Company has not paid dividends and does not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable
future and, accordingly, uses an expected dividend yield of zero.

• Riskii -fkk reff e interest rate: The Company bases the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield availabla e on a U.S. Treasury
note with a term equal to the estimated expected term of the awards.

The Company applies the graded vesting attribution method to recognize compensation expense forff stock-based awards. Using
this method, the estimated grant-date fair value of the award is recognized over the requisite service period forff each separately
vesting tranche as though each tranche of the award is, in subsu tance, a separate award. This advanced recognition expense fromff
futurff e vesting tranches results in the accelerated recognition of the overall compensation cost related to the award. The Company
has elected to account for forff feiturt es as they occur. For awards with a performance-based vesting condition, the Company accruesr
stock-based compensation expense if it is probable that the performance condition will be achieved.

Interest Income

Interest income from our automated overnight "sweep account" program investments is recognized on an accruarr l basis. Interest
income is included in "interest income (expense), net" on our consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxesaa

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liabia lity method in accordance with ASC 740. Deferred tax assets and
liabia lities are recognized for futurff e tax consequences attributable to differences between the finff ancial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabia lities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabia lities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary drr iffereff nces are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on the deferred tax assets and liabia lities is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date. We provide a valuation allowance when we consider it “more likely than not” (greater than 50%
probability) that a deferred income tax asset will not be fully recovered. Adjud stments to the valuation allowance are a component
of the deferred income tax expense or benefit in thff e consolidated statements of operations.
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For interim periods, an income tax provision (benefit)ff is recognized based on the estimated annual effective tax rate expected for
the entire fisff cal year. The interim annual estimated effective tax rate is based on the statutort y trr ax rates then in effect, as adjusted
for estimated changes in permanent differences, and excludes certain discrete items whose tax effeff ct, when material, is recognized
in the interim period in which they occur. These changes in permanent differences and discrete items result in variances to the
effeff ctive tax rate from period to period. Impacts froff m significant pre-tax, non-recognized subsu equent events are excluded froff m the
interim estimated annual effective rate until the period in which they occur.

Net IncII ome (Lo(( ss) per ShaSS re

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration forff common share equivalents
or any impacts froff m Preferred Stock activity. Common share equivalents consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon
the exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock unit awards. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is calculated
by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the fulff ly diluted weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. The diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding amount includes the impact of
common share equivalents, which are the incremental shares of common stock that would be issuable upon the hypothetical
exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock unit awards. The common stock equivalents are calculated using the
treasury srr tock method and average market prices during the periods and are included in the diluted net income (loss) per share
calculation unless their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Recent Accountintt g ProPP nouncements - Adoptedtt

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial InsII truments—Credit Losses: Measurement of CreCC dit Losses on
Financial InsII truments.” This guidance is intended to introduce a revised approach to the recognition and measurement of credit
losses, emphasizing an updated model based on current expected credit losses ("CECL") rather than incurred losses. The
Company adopted the standard effeff ctive January 1, 2023, and determined that adoption of the standard had no material impact on
its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Recent Accountintt g ProPP nouncements - NotNN Yet Adoptedtt

In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-01, “Le“ ases (TopiTT c 842) – ComCC mon ContCC rot l Arrangements.” This guidance amends
certain provisions of ASC 842, specifically those that appla y to leasing arrangements between related parties under common
control. The standard will become effeff ctive forff fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2023, and early adoption is permitted.
The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, “Di“ scii losure Imprm ovements – CodiCC fici ation Amendments in Responss e to thett
SEC’s D’ isclosure UpdatUU e and Simplification IniII tiative.” This guidance affectff s a wide variety of topics in the Codification. The
effeff ctive date forff each amendment will be the date on which the removal of the respective related disclosures froff m Regulation S-
X or Regulation S-K becomes effective. Early adoption is prohibited. The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard
to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (TopiTT c 280): ImpII roving Repore table SegSS megg nt
Discii losures.” This guidance is intended to improve reportabla e segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced
disclosures aboua t significant expenses. The standard requires disclosures to include significant segment expenses that are
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), a description of other segment items by reportabla e segment,
and any additional measures of a segment's profit or loss used by the CODM when deciding how to allocate resources. The
standard also requires all annual disclosures currently required by ASC Topic 280 to be included in interim periods. This standard
is effeff ctive forff fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning afteff r December
15, 2024, with early adoption permitted and requires retrospective appla ication to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “In“ come Taxeaa s (To(( pio c 740): ImpII rovements ttt o IncomII e TaxTT Discii losures.” This
guidance is a final standard on improvements to income tax disclosures and requires disaggregated information abouta a reporting
entity's effeff ctive tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. This standard is effeff ctive forff fiscal years
beginning afteff r December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted and should be appla ied prospectively. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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3. Discontinued Operations

On March 31, 2022, the Company completed the sale of CES to August Mack in accordance with the Asset Purchase Agreement
for appra oximately $1.4 million of total consideration, composed of $1.0 million in cash and $0.4 million of cash held in escrow
that is subju ect to net working capital and other adjustments. The Company executed this divestiture to enhance its focus and
pursue continued growth initiatives forff its core asset management business.

The folff lowing tabla e reconciles major line items constituting pretax income (loss) from discontinued operations to net income
(loss) from discontinued operations as presented in the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue $ — $ 1,460
Cost of revenue — (1,562)
Selling, general, and administrative — (403)
Other income (expense) — 87
Pre-tax income (loss) from discontinued operations — (418)

Provision for (benefit froff m) income tax — (37)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations $ — $ (381)

The Company recognized a net loss of $0.2 million on the divestiturt e of CES, calculated by comparing the finff al adjud sted purchase
price to the carrying value of the net assets sold in the transaction as of March 31, 2022. These amounts refleff ct the finff alized
transaction costs and net working capital adjustments.

4. Fixed Assets & Intangible Assets

The folff lowing tabla e provides a detailed breakout of fixed assets, by type (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022

Computer equipment and capia talized software $ 444 $ 538
Furniturt e and fixtures 115 80
Offiff ce equipment 67 60
Vehicles 193 83
Total fixff ed assets 819 761

Accumulated depreciation (341) (340)
Total fixff ed assets, net $ 478 $ 421

Depreciation expense forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

On May 6, 2022, the Company purchased the rights to the www.comstock.com domain name for $0.1ff million. The Company has
recorded the domain name purchase as an indefinite-lived intangible asset on its consolidated balance sheets that will be tested
annually for impairment.
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5. Investments in Real Estate Ventures

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the Company's investments in real estate ventures that are recorded on the consolidated balance
sheets (in thousands):

December 31,
Investment Ownership % 2023 2022 Accounting Method
Investors X 50.0% $ 976 $ 1,369 Fair Value
The Hartforff d 2.5% 610 953 Fair Value
BLVD Forty Four 5.0% 1,837 2,135 Fair Value
BLVD Ansel 5.0% 2,090 2,556 Fair Value
Total investments recorded at fair value 5,513 7,013

Comstock 41 100.0% 1,564 — Consolidated
Total investments in real estate ventures $ 7,077 $ 7,013

The Company’s maximum loss exposure on each of its investments in real estate ventures is equal to the carrying amount of the
investment. Additional details on each investment are as folff lows:

Investors X

On April 30, 2019, the Company entered into a master transferff agreement with CPRES which entitled the Company to priority
distribution of residuad l cash floff w froff m its Class B membership interest in Comstock Investors X, L.C. ("Investors X"), an
unconsolidated variable interest entity that owns the Company's residuad l homebuilding operations. As of December 31, 2023, the
residual cash floff w primarily relates to anticipated proceeds froff m the sale of rezoned residential lots. The cash will be released as
land development work associated with these projeo cts is completed and lots are sold. (See Note 14 forff additional information).

The HarHH tforff d

In December 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture with CP to acquire The Hartforff d Building ("The Hartford"), a Class-
A office building adjacent to Clarendon Station on Metro’s Orange Line in Arlington County’s premier transit-oriented offiff ce
market, the Rosslyn-Ballston Corridor. Built in 2003, the 211,000 square foot mixed-use Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (“LEED”) GOLD building is being leased to multiple high-quality tenants. In February 2rr 020, the Company arranged forff
DivcoWest to purchase a majoa rity ownership stake in The Hartforff d Building and secured a $87.0 million loan facility fromff
MetLife.ff As part of the transaction, the Company entered into asset management and property management agreements to manage
the property in exchange for market-rate fees, forff which it recognized $0.9 million of revenue for the year ended December 31,
2023. Fair value is determined using an income approach and sales comparable approach models. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company’s ownership interest in The Hartforff d was 2.5%. (See Note 14 forff additional inforff mation).

BLVD Forty Ftt ourFF

In October 2021, the Company entered into a joint venture with CP to acquire a stabia lized 15-story, luxury hrr igh-rise apartment
building in Rockville, Marylrr and that was rebranded as BLVD Forty Four. Located one block froff m the Rockville Station on
Metro's Red Line and in the heart of the I-270 Technology and Life Sff cience Corridor, the 263-unit mixed use property built in
2015 includes approxia mately 16,000 square feet of retail and a commercial parking garage. In connection with the transaction, the
Company received an acquisition fee and is entitled to receive investment-related income and promote distributions in connection
with its equity interest in the asset. The Company also provides asset, residential, retail and parking property management services
for the property in exchange for market-rate fees, forff which it recognized $1.3 million of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2023. Fair value is determined using an income approach and sales comparable approach models. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company’s ownership interest in BLVD Forty Four was 5.0%. (See Note 14 forff additional information).

BLVD Ansel

In March 2022, the Company entered into a joint venture with CP to acquire BLVD Ansel, a newly completed 18-story, luxury
high-rise apartment building with 250 units located adjacent to the Rockville Metro Station and BLVD Forty Four in Rockville,
Maryland. BLVD Ansel feaff tures appra oximately 20,000 square feet of retail space, 611 parking spaces, and expansive amenities
including multiple private workspaces designed to meet the needs of remote-working residents. In connection with the
transaction, the Company received an acquisition feeff and is entitled to receive investment-related income and promote
distributions in connection with its equity interest in the asset. The Company also provides asset, residential, retail and parking
property management services for the property in exchange for market rate feesff , forff which it recognized $1.1 million of revenue
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for the year ended December 31, 2023. Fair value is determined using an income approach and sales comparable approach
models. As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s ownership interest in BLVD Ansel was 5.0%. (See Note 14 forff additional
information).

The folff lowing tabla e below summarizes the activity of the Company’s unconsolidated investments in real estate ventures that are
reported at faiff r value (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 4,702
Investments 2,709
Distributions (382)
Change in fair value (16)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 7,013
Investments 89
Distributions (379)
Change in fair value (1,210)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 5,513

Comstock 41

In December 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of an 18,150 square foot land parcel located at 41 Marylrr and Avenue
in Rockville, Marylrr and (“Comstock 41”) through a wholly owned subsidiary for $1.5 million. This investment property sits
adjad cent to BLVD Ansel and BLVD Forty-Four and is currently a surface parking lot. Comstock 41 has existing entitlements forff
at least 117 dwelling units and appra oximately 11,000 square feet of retail space. (See Note 14 for additional inforff mation).

Othett r InvII estments

In addition, the Company has a joint venture with Supeu rior Title Services, Inc. ("STS") to provide title insurance to its clients. The
Company records this co-investment using the equity method of accounting and adjud sts the carrying value of the investment for
its proportionate share of net income and distributions. The carrying value of the STS investment is recorded in "other assets" on
the Company's consolidated statement of balance sheets. The Company's proportionate share of net income and distributions are
recorded in gain (loss) on real estate ventures in the consolidated statements of operations and was immaterial for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Investment Financii ial InfII orff mationrr

The folff lowing tabla es summarize the combined summarized statements of operations information forff our unconsolidated
investments in real estate ventures (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Combined Statements of Operations: 2023 2022
Revenue $ 24,877 $ 20,825
Operating income (loss) 13,251 11,550
Net income (loss) $ (10,506) (7,360)

6. Leases

The Company has operating leases for office space leased in various buildings for its own use. The Company's leases have
original terms ranging from 5 to 10 years. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees or
material restrictive covenants. Lease costs related to the Company's operating leases are primarily reflected in "cost of revenue" in
the consolidated statements of operations, as they are a reimbursabla e cost under the Company's respective asset management
agreements. (See Note 14 forff additional inforff mation).
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The folff lowing tabla e summarizes operating lease costs, by type (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Operating lease costs
Fixed lease costs $ 1,186 $ 1,045
Variable lease costs 458 361
Total operating lease costs $ 1,644 $ 1,406

The folff lowing tabla e presents supplemental cash floff w inforff mation related to the Company's operating leases (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cash paid for lease liabilities:
Operating cash floff ws from operating leases $ 1,588 $ 1,350

As of December 31, 2023 the Company's operating leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of 6.76 years and a
weighted-average discount rate of 4.64%.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes future lease liabia lity payments (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31, Operating Leases
2024 $ 1,167
2025 1,194
2026 1,222
2027 1,203
2028 1,233
Thereafter 2,336
Total futurff e lease payments 8,355
Imputed interest (1,228)
Total lease liabilities $ 7,127

The Company does not have any lease liabia lities which have not yet commenced as of December 31, 2023.

7. Debt

Creditdd Facilityii - Due to Affiff liaii tes

On March 19, 2020, the Company entered into a Revolving Capia tal Line of Credit Agreement with CPRES, pursuant to which the
Company secured a $10.0 million capital line of credit (the “Credit Facility”) that will expire in March 2025. The Credit Facility
provides forff an initial variabla e interest rate of the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plus 1.00% per annum on advances made under
the Credit Facility, payable monthly in arrears. The Company made a $5.5 million initial draw on the Credit Facility in the formff
of a note with an April 30, 2023, maturity date.

On September 30, 2022, the Company paid down its $5.5 million outstanding principal balance on the Credit Facility in full. As
of December 31, 2023, the Credit Facility remained available for use and the Company had no outstanding debt or financing
arrangements forff which futurff e payments are due.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company maintains certain non-cancelable operating leases that contain various renewal options. (See Note 6 for additional
information)

The Company is subju ect to litigation froff m time to time in the ordinary crr ourse of business; however, the Company does not expect
the results, if any, to have a material adverse impact on its results of operations, finff ancial position, or liquidity. The Company
records a contingent liabia lity when it is both probable that a liabia lity has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably
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estimated; however, the Company is not aware of any reasonably possible losses that would have a material impact on its results
of operations, finff ancial position, or liquidity. The Company expenses legal defense costs as they are incurred.

9. Fair Value Disclosures

As of December 31, 2023, the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other current assets, and
accounts payable approximated faiff r value because of the short-term nature of these instrumrr ents.

As of December 31, 2023, deferred compensation plan assets, which are Company-funded investments that are meant to correlate
with participant-directed hypothetical investments in stock and bond mutual funds, are measured using quoted prices in active
markets based on the market price per unit multiplied by the number of units held (Level 1). Corresponding deferred
compensation plan liabia lities reflect the faiff r value of the aforementioned hypothetical investments and are based on inputs derived
principally from observable market data (Level 2) through their direct correlation with the deferred compensation plan assets.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had certain equity method investments in real estate ventures that it elected to record at
fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). (See Note 5 forff additional information).

The Company may also value its non-financial assets and liabia lities, including items such as long-lived assets, at faiff r value on a
non-recurring basis if it is determined that impairment has occurred. Such fair value measurements typically use significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3), unless a quoted market price (Level 1) or quoted prices for similar instrumrr ents, quoted prices for
identical or similar instrumr ents in inactive markets, or amounts derived from valuation models (Level 2) are availabla e.

10. Stockholders' Equity

Common StoSS ck

The Company's certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of Class A common stock and Class B common stock, each
with a par value of $0.01 per share. Holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are entitled to dividends when,
as and if, declared by the Company's board of directors, subju ect to the rights of the holders of all classes of stock outstanding
having priority rights to dividends. Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share and holders of Class B
common stock are entitled to fifteen votes per share. Shares of our Class B common stock are convertible into an equivalent
number of shares of our Class A common stock and generally convert into shares of our Class A common stock upon transferff . As
of December 31, 2023, the Company had not declared any dividends.

Preferred StoSS ck

The Company's certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of Series C non-convertible preferred stock with a par value of
$0.01 per share. Series C Preferff red Stock has a discretionary, non-cumulative, dividend featurt e and is redeemable by holders in
the event of liquidation or change in control of the Company.

On June 13, 2022, the Company entered into a Share Exchange and Purchase Agreement ("SEPA") with CPRES, pursuant to
which the Company acquired froff m CPRES all outstanding shares of its non-convertible and non-redeemable Series C preferred
stock forff (i) 1.0 million shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, valued at the consolidated closing bid price of the Class
A shares on Nasdaq on the business day immediately preceding the entry into the SEPA and (ii) $4.0 million in cash. The SEPA
was unanimously approved by the independent directors of the Company. Upon completion of the transaction, all shares of Series
C preferred stock were immediately cancelled and fully retired.

At the time of the transaction, the total carrying value of the Series C preferred stock (including the related additional paid-in
capital) was $10.3 million. The share exchange was accounted for as a redemption; thereforff e, the $2.0 million differeff nce between
the carrying value and the $8.3 million faiff r value of the consideration paid uponu redemption was added to net income to arrive at
income attributable to common stockholders and calculate net income (loss) per share for the Company's fisff cal year ended
December 31, 2022. (See Note 13 for additional inforff mation).

Stock-tt based Compensation

On Februarr ry 12, 2019, the Company approved the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”), which replaced the 2004
Long-Term Compensation Plan (the “2004 Plan”). The 2019 Plan provides forff the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation
rights ("SARs"), restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalents, performance awards, and stock or other stock-based
awards. The 2019 Plan mandates that all lapsa ed, forff feited, expired, terminated, cancelled and withheld shares, including those
from the predecessor plan, be returned to the 2019 Plan and made availabla e forff issuance. The 2019 Plan originally authorized

F-17



2.5 million shares of the Company's Class A common stock for issuance. As of December 31, 2023, there were 1.4 million shares
of Class A common stock availabla e forff issuance under the 2019 Plan.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $1.0 million
and $0.8 million, respectively. Stock-based compensation costs are included in selling, general, and administrative expense on the
Company's consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2023, there was $0.8 million of total unrecognized stock-
based compensation, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.

Restricted Stock UniUU ts

Restricted stock unit (“RSU”) awards granted to employees are subject to continued employment and generally vest in four
annual installments over the four years period folff lowing the grant dates. The Company also grants certain RSU awards to
management that contain additional vesting conditions tied directly to a definff ed performance metric for the Company (“PSUs”).
The actuat l number of PSUs that will vest can range from 60% to 120% of the original grant target amount, depending upon actualt
Company performance below or abovea the established performance metric targets. The Company estimates performance in
relation to the defined targets when calculating the related stock-based compensation expense.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes all restricted stock unit activity (in thousands, except per share data):

RSUs
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date Fair
Value

Balance as of December 31, 2022 702 $ 2.95
Granted 279 4.03
Released (257) 2.71
Canceled/Fdd orfeited (53) 3.90

Balance as of December 31, 2023 671 $ 3.42

The total intrinsic value of RSUs that vested during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $1.1 million and $1.0
million, respectively.

Stock OptO ionsp

Non-qualified stock options generally expire 10 years after the grant date and, except under certain conditions, the options are
subju ect to continued employment and vest in four annual installments over the four-year period folff lowing the grant dates.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes all stock option activity (in thousands, except per share data and time periods):

Options
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Balance as of December 31, 2022 131 $ 4.08 4.4 $ 172
Granted — —
Exercised — —
Canceled/Fdd orfeited — —
Expired (15) 11.81

Balance as of December 31, 2023 116 $ 3.07 3.9 $ 192
Exercisabla e as of December 31, 2023 116 $ 3.07 3.9 $ 192

There were no stock option exercises during the year ended December 31, 2023. The total intrinsic value of stock options
exercised durd ing the year ended December 31, 2022, was $0.6 million.
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11. Revenue

All the Company's revenue was forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was generated in the United States.

The folff lowing tabla es summarize the Company’s revenue by line of business, customer type, and contract type (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue by Line of Business
Asset management $ 29,278 $ 26,680
Property management 10,604 9,398
Parking management 4,839 3,235
Total revenue $ 44,721 $ 39,313

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue by Customer Type
Related party $ 43,568 $ 38,719
Commercial 1,153 594
Total revenue $ 44,721 $ 39,313

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Revenue by Contract Fee Type1

Fixed-price $ 6,255 $ 7,048
Cost-plus 26,170 22,652
Variable 12,296 9,613
Total revenue $ 44,721 $ 39,313

1 Certain contracts contain multiple revenue streams with characteristics that lend to classification in more than one category.rr

For the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022 the Company recognized revenue from incentive feeff s of $4.8 million and $3.9
million, respectively. The incentive feeff revenue recognized in both periods stemmed froff m scheduld ed annual triggering events for
operating assets that began on October 1, 2022, and are scheduled each October 1 through 2024, pursuant to the terms of the 2022
AMA. All Incentive Fees recognized to date have been related to services performed in prior periods for which revenue
recognition criteria were previously constrained. Subsu equent to these scheduld ed triggering events, and in accordance with terms
pursuant to the 2022 AMA, incentive feesff may be recognized on assets currently under development uponu the achievement of
future triggering events tied to various metrics that indicate stabilization, such as occupancu y and leasing rates. (See Note 14 in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional inforff mation).
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12. Income Tax

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the components of the provision for (benefit froff m) income tax (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Current:
Federal $ — $ —
State (102) 180
Total current taxes (102) 180

Deferred:
Federal 1,839 1,281
State 178 (195)
Total deferff red taxes 2,017 1,086

Other:
Valuation allowance (1,547) (1,141)

Provision for (benefit froff m) income taxes $ 368 $ 125

The folff lowing tabla e presents a reconciliation the statutort y frr ederalff income tax rate to the Company's effective income tax rate:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Federal statutory rate 21.00 % 21.00 %
State income taxes, net of federal benefitff 4.64 % 5.67 %
Permanent differeff nces 0.50 % (2.40)%
Return to provision (0.99)% 0.00 %
Change in valuation allowance (18.99)% (14.54)%
Change in state tax rate (0.21)% (5.70)%
Other (1.44)% (2.45)%
Effeff ctive tax rate 4.51 % 1.59 %

The Company's effective tax rates forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 differ froff m the U.S. federal statutory tax rate
of 21%, primarily due to state income taxes and the impact of valuation allowance releases of $1.5 million and $1.1 million,
respectively.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeff cts of temporary drr iffereff nces between the carrying amounts of assets and liabia lities
for finff ancial reporting purposrr es and the amounts used forff income tax purposes. The Company has recorded valuation allowances
for certain tax attributes and deferred tax assets due to the existence of sufficient uncertainty regarding the future realization of
those deferred tax assets through future taxable income. Based on its recent finff ancial performance and current forecasts of futff uret
operating results, the Company conducts a quarterly analysis to determine if it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred
tax assets related to its net operating loss carryforwards will be utilized in future periods. The Company's effective tax rate in any
given period is directly impacted by the timing and magnitude of any partial valuation allowance releases.
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The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabia lities (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards $ 31,465 $ 33,532
Stock-based compensation 471 481
Investments in affiliates 1,395 1,237
Right of use lease liability 1,825 2,017
Bonus accruar l 1,172 1,246
Goodwill amortization — (1)
Valuation allowance (23,666) (25,214)

Total deferff red tax assets 12,662 13,298

Deferred tax liabia lities:
Right of use lease asset (1,739) (1,943)
Depreciation and amortization (38) —

Total deferff red tax liabilities (1,777) (1,943)

Net deferff red income tax assets (liabia lities) $ 10,885 $ 11,355

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $122.8 million of net operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards. These NOLs, if unused,
will begin expiring in 2028. Under Code Section 382 (“Section 382”) rulr es, if a change of ownership is triggered, the Company’s
NOL assets and possibly certain other deferred tax assets may be impaired. Given Section 382’s broad definition, an ownership
change could be the unintended consequence of otherwise normal market trading in the Company’s stock that is outside of the
Company’s control. In an effortff to preserve the availabia lity of these NOLs, the Company has adopted a Section 382 rights
agreement that is scheduld ed to expire on March 27, 2025. The Section 382 rights agreement helps to reduce the likelihood of an
unintended “ownership change”, thus preserving the value of these futurff e tax benefits. We estimate that as of December 31, 2023,
the three-year cumulative shift iff n ownership of the Company’s stock had not triggered a limitation in the use of our NOL asset.

As of December 31, 2023, there were no uncertain tax positions that, if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate.
We file U.S. and state income tax returnst in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. All of our income tax returt ns remain
subju ect to examination by fedff eral and state tax authorities dued to the availabia lity of our NOL carryforwards.

F-21



13. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the calculation of basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Numerator:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations - Basic and Diluted $ 7,784 $ 7,728
Impact of Series C preferred stock redemption — 2,046

Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders -
Basic and Diluted 7,784 9,774
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations - Basic and Diluted — (381)
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders - Basic and Diluted $ 7,784 $ 9,393

Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - Basic 9,629 8,974
Effeff ct of common share equivalents 479 601

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - Diluted 10,108 9,575

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic - Continuing operations $ 0.81 $ 1.09
Basic - Discontinued operations — (0.04)
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.81 $ 1.05

Diluted - Continuing operations $ 0.77 $ 1.02
Diluted - Discontinued operations — (0.04)
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 0.77 $ 0.98

The folff lowing common share equivalents have been excluded froff m the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share because
their effectff was anti-dilutive (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

Restricted stock units 2 6
Stock options 29 35
Warrants 46 89

14. Related Party Transactions

On June 13, 2022, CHCI Asset Management, L.C. (“CAM”), an entity wholly owned by the Company, entered into a new master
asset management agreement with CP (the “2022 AMA”) that superseded in its entirety the previous asset management agreement
between CAM and CPRES dated April 30, 2019 (the “2019 AMA”). Entry irr nto the 2022 AMA was unanimously approved by the
independent directors of the Company.

Consistent with the strucr ture of the 2019 AMA, the 2022 AMA engages CAM to manage and administer CP’s commercial real
estate portfolff io (the "Anchor Portfolio") and the day to-day operations of CP and each property-owning subsu idiary of CP
(collectively, the “CP Entities”). CAM will provide investment advisory, development, and asset management services necessary
to build out, stabia lize and manage the Anchor Portfolio, which currently consists primarily of two of the larger transit-oriented,
mixed-use developments located on Washington D.C. Metro’s Silver Line (Reston Station and Loudoun Station) that are owned
by CP Entities and ultimately controlled by Mr. Clemente.

Pursuant to the feeff structurt es set forff th in both the 2022 AMA and 2019 AMA, CAM is entitled to receive an annual payment
equal to the greater of the "Cost-Plus Fee" or the "Market Rate Fee". The Cost-Plus Fee is equal to the sum of (i) the
comprehensive costs incurred by or for providingff services to the Anchor Portfolio, (ii) the costs and expenses of the Company
related to maintaining the listing of its shares on a securities exchange and complying with regulatory arr nd reporting obligations of
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a public company, and (iii) a fixff ed annual payment of $1.0 million. The Market Rate Fee calculation is definff ed in the respective
asset management agreements as the sum of the fees detailed in the folff lowing tabla e:

Description 2022 AMA 2019 AMA
Asset Management Fee 2.5% of Anchor Portfolio revenue 2.5% of Anchor Portfolio revenue

Entitlement Fee 15% of total re-zoning costs Encompassed in Development and
Construcrr tion Fee

Development and Construcr tion Fee 5% of development costs (excluding
previously charged Entitlement Fees) 4% of development costs

Property Management Fee 1% of Anchor Portfolio revenue 1% of Anchor Portfolio revenue

Acquisition Fee 1% on first $50 million of purchase price;
0.5% above $50 million 0.5% of purchase price

Disposition Fee 1% on first $50 million of sale price; 0.5%
above $50 million 0.5% of sale price

In addition to the annual payment of either the Market Rate Fee or the Cost-Plus Fee, CAM is also entitled on an annual basis to
receive certain supplu emental feeff s, as detailed forff the respective asset management agreements in the folff lowing tabla e:

Description 2022 AMA 2019 AMA

Incentive Fee

When receiving Market Rate Fee:
On a mark-to-market basis, equal to 20%
of the imputed profitff of certain real estate
assets comprising the Anchor Portfolio for
which a Triggering Event1 has occurred,
afteff r calculating a compounding preferred
returt n of 8% on CP invested capia tal (the
“Market Incentive Fee”)

When receiving the Cost-Plus Fee:
On a mark-to-market basis, an incentive
fee equal to 10% of the imputed profitff of
certain real estate assets comprising the
Anchor Portfolio for which a Triggering
Event1 has occurred, afteff r calculating a
compounding preferred returt n of 8% on CP
invested capital (the “Base Incentive Fee”)

10% of the freff e cash floff w of each of the
real estate assets comprising the Anchor
Portfolio after calculating a compounding
preferff red returt n of 8% on CPRES invested
capital

Investment Origination Fee 1% of raised capital 1% of raised capia tal

Leasing Fee $1/per sqft.ff for new leases and $0.50/ per
sqft. forff lease renewals

$1/ per sqft.ff for new leases and $0.50/ per
sqft. forff lease renewals

Loan Origination Fee
1% of any Financing Transaction or other
commercially reasonable and mutually
agreed upon fee

1% of any Financing Transaction or other
commercially reasonable and mutually
agreed upon fee

1 Triggering events are differeff ntiated between operating assets (i.e., those already in service) and assets under development. Operating asset
triggering events are scheduld ed for specific dates, whereas triggering events for assets under development are tied to various metrics that
indicate stabia lization, such as occupancu y and leasing rates.

The 2022 AMA will terminate on January 1, 2035 (“Initial Term”) and will automatically renew forff successive additional one
year terms (each an “Extension Term”) unless CP delivers written notice of non-renewal of the 2022 AMA at least 180 days prior
to the termination date of the Initial Term or any Extension Term. Twenty-four months afteff r the effeff ctive date of the 2022 AMA,
CP is entitled to terminate the 2022 AMA without cause upon 180 days advance written notice to CAM. In the event of such a
termination and in addition to the payment of any accrued annual feesff due and payable as of the termination date under the 2022
AMA, CP is required to pay a termination fee eqff ual to two times the Cost-Plus Fee or Market Rate Fee paid to CAM for the
calendar year immediately preceding the termination.

Residential,tt Commercial, and ParPP kirr ngii Property Mtt anMM agement Agreements

The Company entered into separate residential property management agreements with properties owned by CP Entities under
which the Company receives feesff to manage and operate the properties, including tenant communications, leasing of apaa rtment
units, rent collections, building maintenance and day-to-day operations, engagement and supervision of contractors and vendors
providing services for the buildings, and budget preparation and oversight.
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The Company entered into separate commercial property and parking management agreements with several properties owned by
CP Entities under which the Company receives feesff to manage and operate the office and retail portions of the properties,
including tenant communications, rent collections, building maintenance and day-to-day operations, engagement and supervision
of contractors and vendors providing services for the buildings, and budget preparation and oversight. These property
management agreements each have initial terms of one year with successive, automatic one-year renewal terms. The Company
generally receives base management feesff under these agreements based uponu a percentage of gross rental revenues forff the
portions of the buildings being managed in addition to reimbursement of specified expenses, including employment expenses of
personnel employed by the Company in the management and operation of each property.

Construction ManMM agement Agreements

The Company has construcr tion management agreements with properties owned by CP Entities under which the Company receives
fees to provide certain construcr tion management and supeu rvision services, including construcrr tion supervision and management of
the buildout of certain tenant premises. The Company receives a flat construcr tion management feeff for each engagement under a
work authorization based upon the construcrr tion management or supervision feeff set forff th in the appla icable tenant’s lease, which
fee is generally 1% to 4% of the total costs (or total hard costs) of construcrr tion of the tenant’s improvements in its premises, or as
otherwise agreed to by the parties.

Lease ProPP curement Agreements

The Company has lease procurement agreements with properties owned by CP Entities under which the Company receives certain
finders' feesff in connection with the procurement of new leases forff such properties where an external broker is not engaged on
behalf of the CP Entities. Such leasing fees arff e supplemental to the fees generated froff m the Company's management agreements
referenced above and are generally 1-2% of the futurff e lease payments to be received by the CP Entity froff m the executed lease.

Busineii ss Managea ment Agreements

On April 30, 2019, CAM entered into a Business Management Agreement with Investors X, whereby CAM provides Investors X
with asset and profesff sional services related to the wind down of the Company’s divested homebuilding operations and the
continuation of services related to the Company’s divested land development activities. The aggregate feeff payable to CAM from
Investors X under the Business Management Agreement, which ended on December 31, 2022, was $0.9 million payable in 15
quarterly installments of $0.1 million each. The Company considers Investors X to be a variabla e interest entity over which it does
not have the power to direct activities that most significantly impact economic performance, thereforff e it is not the primary
beneficiary orr f Investors X and does not have to consolidate the entity into its financial results. (See Note 5 for additional
information).

On July 1, 2019, CAM entered into a Business Management Agreement (the “BC Management Agreement”) with CPRES,
whereby CAM provides CPRES with profesff sional management and consultation services, including, without limitation,
consultation on land development and real estate transactions, forff a residential community located in Monteverde, Florida. On
January 1, 2023, a successor contract for the BC Management Agreement was executed by DCS Real Estate Investments, LC, an
entity controlled by a member of CP. The BC Management Agreement is structurt ed in successive renewabla e one-year terms. The
BC Management Agreement provides that DCS Real Estate Investments, LC will pay CAM an annual management feeff equal to
$0.4 million, payable in equal monthly installments and will reimburse CAM forff certain expenses.

hThe HarHH tftforff dd

In December 2019, the Company made an investment related to the purchase of The Hartford Building ("The Hartford"), a
stabilized commercial office building located at 3101 Wilson Boulevard in the Clarendon area of Arlington County, Virginia. In
conjunction with the investment, the Company entered into an operating agreement with CP to form Comstock 3101 Wilson, LC,
to purchase The Hartford. Pursuant to the operating agreement, the Company held a minority membership interest of The
Hartford, and the remaining membership interests of The Hartford are held by CP.

In Februarr ry 2020, the Company, CP and DWF VI 3101 Wilson Member, LLC (“DWF”), an unaffiliated, third party, equity
investor in The Hartforff d, entered into a limited liabia lity company agreement (the “DWC Operating Agreement”) to forff m DWC
3101 Wilson Venture, LLC (“DWC”) to, among other things, acquire, own and hold all interests in The Hartford. In furff therance
thereof, on Februar ry 7, 2020, the original operating agreement was amended and restated (the “A&R Operating Agreement”) to
memorialize the Company’s and CP’s assignment of 100% of its membership interests in The Hartforff d to DWC. As a result,
DWC is the sole member of The Hartforff d Owner. The Company and CP, respectively, hold minority membership interests in, and
DWF holds the majority membership interest in, DWC. (See Note 5 for addiddi itional il inforff imati )on).
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BLVD Forty Ftt ouFF r/BL// VD Ansel

In October 2021 and March 2022, the Company entered into joint ventures with CP to acquire BLVD Forty Four and BLVD
Ansel, respectively, two adjacent mixed-use luxury hrr igh-rise apartment buildings located near the Rockville Metro Station in
Montgomery Crr ounty, Maryland. hThe C yompany consididers BLVD For yty Four andd BLVD Ans lel to be vabe riable iinterest en i itities uponu
hwhiich ih it exerciises isignignififican it inflluff ence; hhowever, considideriing kg k yey factors suchh as thhe Companyy’s owner hshi iip interest, par iticiipatiion
iin lpoliicyy-making deking de ici isions, a dnd oversigigh fht of ma gnagement serviices byby majomajo iri yty eq iui yty h ldholders, thhe Companyy conclluddedd thhat thhe
ppower to didirect acti iivitiies thhat most sigig inifificantly imptly impact economiic performance iis hsh dared. Giiven hthat hthe C yompany iis not hthe entityity
most lclos lelyy asso iciatedd wiithh thhe propertiies, iit conclluddedd thha it it it s not the primary beneficiary arr nd does hnot have a controllinglling
fifinanciial il interes it in ei hither propertyy. ((See Note 5 forff daddidi itional il infor imatio )n).

In conjuncnjunc ition wi h hith the acq iui isi ition of Comstockk 41, hthe C yompany entered id into an ame dndment to thhe exi iistingg asset man gagement
gagreement wiithh CP t io introdduce an acq iui isi ition pursuiit fee of $$0.1 illimillion andd contiinggent en iti ltlement success fee to pursue
ppoten itiall r lelocatiion of m doderatelyly i-pri dced ddw lellilingg u inits (("MPDUs") f) froff m BLVD For yty Four to Comsto kck 41. hThe acq iui isi ition
ppursuiit fee was earn ded andd recogniogni dzed as revenue for the yehe year enddedd Decembber 31, 2023, upon hthe c lompletiion of thhe Comsto kck 41
acq iui isi ition. hThe entiitllement success fee,ff ifif ear dned, iwillll eq lual 25% of hthe economiic vallue creat ded byby hthe r lelocatiion of thhe MPDUs
((subjubject to reas blonable aggreedd uponu hchangges at thhe itime of hthe c lalcul ilatio )n) and dd due upond approvall of a fifinaliliz ded amenddment to thhe
exi iisting projng projec dt d levelopment pllan by ln by loc lal ggovernment gag iencies (. (See Note 5 for addiddi itional il infor imatio )n).

Corporate Ltt eases

On November 1, 2020, the Company relocated its corporate headquarters to office space located at 1900 Reston Metro Plaza in
Reston, Virginia, pursuant to a ten-year lease agreement with an affiff liate controlled and owned by Christopher Clemente, its Chief
Executive Officer, and his famff ily. On November 1, 2022, the Company executed a 3,778 square foot lease expansion agreement
with terms that align with the original agreement. (See Note 6 for addiddi itional il inforff imati )on).

On January 1, 2022, ParkX Management, LC, a subsu idiary of the Company, entered into a five-year lease agreement forff its
parking operations monitoring center with an affiff liate controlled and owned by Mr. Clemente and his famff ily. (See Note 6 for
daddidi itional il inforff imatio )n).

Series C PrePP fee rred StoSS ck Redemption

On June 13, 2022, the Company entered into the SEPA with CPRES, pursuant to which the Company acquired fromff CPRES all
outstanding shares of its non-convertible and non-redeemable Series C preferred stock at a significant discount to carrying value.
(See Note 10 forff daddidi itional il inforff ma itio )n).

15. Employee Benefitff Plans

The Company maintains definff ed contribution plans covering all fulff l-time employees of the Company who have 90 days of service
and are at least 21 years old. An eligible employee may elect to make a beforff e-tax contribution of between 1% and 90% of his or
her compensation through payroll deducd tions, not to exceed the annual limit set by law. The Company currently matches the first
3% of participant contributions limited to 3% of a participant’s gross compensation (maximum Company match is 4%). The
combined total expense for this plan was $0.6 million and $0.5 million forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

In addition, the Company adopted a non-qualified deferff red compensation plan ("NQDC Plan") in November 2023. The NQDC
Plan allows certain eligible employees to defer, on a pre-tax basis, a portion of their base annual salary arr nd/or their annual bonus
and earn tax-deferred earnings on these deferrals. The NQDC Plan also provides forff matching Company contributions that vest
over a three-year period. In the NQDC Plan, a participant's deferff rals, together with Company matching credits, are “invested” at
the direction of the employee in a hypothetical portfolff io of investments which are tracked by an administrator. The Company,
through a broker partner affiff liated with the NQDC Plan administrator, directly funds investments that are meant to correlate with
participant-directed hypothetical investments in stock and bond mutual funds in an effortff to directly provide for its future NQDC
Plan liabia lities. NQDC Plan assets and liabia lities are marked-to-market each quarter. Fair value changes to NQDC Plan liabilities
are recorded as a benefitff plan-related operating expense and the net investment income (loss) from NQDC Plan assets is recorded
as other income (expense) in our condensed consolidated statements of income. As of December 31, 2023, total NQDC plan
assets and liabia lities were $0.1 million and 0.1 million, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no
distributions from the Company's NQDC Plan.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effeff ctiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedurd es pursuant to RulRR es 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (“Exchange Act”), as of December 31, 2023. Disclosure controls and procedurd es are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specifieff d in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated
to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropra iate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedurd es were effeff ctive as of December 31, 2023.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as such term is
defined in RulRR es 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.

We co dnductedd an evalluatiion of thhe effeff ctiiveness of our iintern lal controll over fiinff i lancial repor itingg as o Df ecember 31, 2023, bba dsed
on hthe Internall Controll—Integgr dated Framework (k ( )2013) iissu ded byby hthe Com imittee of Sponsoriingg O grganiizatiions of hthe Tre dad yway
Co immis ision. Basedd on thihis evalluatiion, ma gnagement conclluddedd thhat our iintern lal controll over fiinff i lancial repor itingg was effeff ctiive as
of December 31, 2023.

Limitations on the Effeff ctiveness of Controls

We do not expect that our disclosure controls and internal controls will prevent all error and all fraff ud. A control system, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only assurance, at the reasonable assurance level, that the objectives of the control
system are met. Further, the design of a control system must refleff ct the factff that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futurff e periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedurd es may deteriorate.

The design of any system of controls also is based in part uponu certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential futurff e conditions; over time,
a control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate. Due to the inherent limitations in a cost-effeff ctive control system, misstatements due to error or fraff ud may occur
and may not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change has occurred in our internal control over finff ancial reporting (as defined in RulRR es 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the
Exchange Act) during our last fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023, that has materially affeff cted, or is reasonably likely to
materially affeff ct, our internal control over finff ancial reporting.

The certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to RulRR es 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of
the Exchange Act are filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2. The certifications of our principal
executive officer and principal finff ancial offiff cer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.1350 are furniff shed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K
as Exhibit 32.1.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

The inforff mation required by Items 10 through 14 of this section is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy
statement for ourff 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act within 120
days afteff r the close of our fiscal year-end. These items include:

• Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
• Item 11. Executive Compensation
• Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficff ial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
• Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
• Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are fileff d as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the information required to be set
forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference
Description Form Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation Q 3.1 November 16, 2015

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws 10-K 3.2 March 31, 2005

3.3
Certificate of Designation of Series C Non-Convertible Preferred Stock of Comstock
Holding Companies, Inc., filed with the Secretary of the State of Delaware on
March 22, 2017

8-K 3.1 March 28, 2017

3.4
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series C Non-Convertible
Preferred Stock of Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. filed with the Secretary of State
of the State of Delaware on February 15, 2019

K 3.2 February 19, 2019

3.5 Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. 8-K 3.1 February 19, 2019

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate S-1 4.1 August 13, 2004

4.2 Description of Capital Stock 10-K 4.2 March 31, 2022

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement S-1/A 10.10 December 7, 2004

10.2+ 2004 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan S-1/A 10.12 December 7, 2004

10.3+ Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2004 Long-Term Incentive Compensation
Plan S-1/A 10.13 December 7, 2004

10.4 Trademark License Agreement S-1/A 10.23 December 7, 2004

10.5 Form of warrant issued in connection with private placement by Comstock Growth
Fund, L.C. 10-K 10.91 April 14, 2015

10.6 Section 382 Rights Agreement between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC dated March 27, 2015 8-K 4.1 March 27, 2015

10.7 Form of Subscription Agreement and Operating Agreement dated August 15, 2016,
between Comstock Investors X, L.C. and [-], with accompanying Schedule A
identifying subscribers

10-Q 10.99 November 14, 2016

10.8 Amendment to the Operating Agreement, dated October 13, 2017, between Comstock
Investors X, L.C. and CP Real Estate Services, LC (formerly Comstock Development
Services, LC)

10-Q 10.62 November 16, 2017

10.9+ Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan DEF
14A

Annex
B January 22, 2019

20



10.10+ Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2019 Omnibus
Incentive Plan 10-K 10.26 April 15, 2020

10.11+ Form of Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2019 Omnibus
Incentive Plan 10-K 10.27 April 15, 2020

10.12 Revolving Capital Line of Credit Agreement dated March 19, 2020, Comstock Holding
Companies, Inc. and CP Real Estate Services, LC (formerly Comstock Development
Services, LC)

10-Q 10.29 May 28, 2020

10.13 Promissory Note dated March 27, 2020, between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.
and CP Real Estate Services, LC (formerly Comstock Development Services, LC) 10-Q 10.30 May 28, 2020

10.14+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 27, 2020, between
Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and Christopher Clemente 10-Q 10.2 August 14, 2020

10.15 Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Comstock 3101
Wilson, LC dated February 7, 2020 10-Q 10.3 August 14, 2020

10.16 Deed of Lease dated November 1, 2020, between CRS Plaza I, LC and Comstock
Holding Companies, Inc. 10-K 10.32 March 31, 2021

10.17 Business Management Agreement dated July 1, 2019 by and between CHCI Asset
Management, L.C. (formerly CDS Asset Management, L.C) and CP Real Estate
Services, LC (formerly Comstock Development Services, LC)

10-K 10.22 March 31, 2022

10.18 Operating Agreement of Comstock 44 Maryland, L C dated October 20, 2021. 10-K 10.30 March 31, 2022

10.19+ Consultant Agreement dated November 3, 2021, by and between Comstock Holding
Companies, Inc. and Ivy Zelman. 10-K 10.31 March 31, 2022

10.20 Deed of Lease dated January 1, 2022, by and between Comstock Reston Station
Holdings, LC and ParkX Management, LC Q 10.1 May 16, 2022

10.21 Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of Comstock 33 Monroe Holdings,
LC dated March 21, 2022 10-Q 10.2 May 16, 2022

10.22 Asset Purchase Agreement dated March 31, 2022, among Comstock Holding
Companies, Inc., Comstock Environmental Services, LLC and August Mack
Environmental, Inc.

10-Q 10.3 May 16, 2022

10.23 Master Asset Management Agreement between Comstock Partners, LC and CHCI
Asset Management, LC, dated June 13, 2022 Q 10.1 August 15, 2022

10.24 Share Exchange and Purchase Agreement between Comstock Holding Companies, Inc.
and CP Real Estate Services, L.C., dated June 13, 2022 10-Q 10.2 August 15, 2022

10.25* Purchase and Sale Agreement among Comstock Holding Companies, Inc. and
Comstock 41 Maryland, LLC, dated August 31, 2023

10.26* Success Fee Agreement among Comstock 41 Maryland, LLC, CHCI Asset
Management, LC, and Comstock 44 Maryland, LC, dated November 10, 2023

14.1 Code of Ethics 10-K 14.1 March 31, 2005

21.1* List of subsidiaries

23.1* Consent of Grant Thornton, LLP

31.1*
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002
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31.2*
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1*
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97* Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy

101.INS*
Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labea l Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit
101)

* Filed herewith
+ Management contracts, compensatory plans, or arrangements

Item 16. 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duld y authorized.

COMSTOCK HOLDING COMPANIES, INC.

Date: March 21, 2024 By: /s/ CHRISTOPHER CLEMENTE
Christopher Clemente
Chairman and Chief Ee xecuEE tive OffiO cer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the folff lowing persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ CHRISTOPHER CLEMENTE Chairman of the Board of Directors and March 21, 2024
Christopher Clemente Chief Executive Offiff cer (Principal Executive Offiff cer)

/s/ CHRISTOPHER GUTHRIE Chief Financial Offiff cer March 21, 2024
Christopher Guthrie (Principal Financial Officff er and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ DAVID M. GUERNSEY Director March 21, 2024
David M. Guernsey

/s/ THOMAS J. HOLLY Director March 21, 2024
Thomas J. Holly

/s/ JAMES A. MACCUTCHEON Director March 21, 2024
James A. MacCutcheon

/s/ ROBERT P. PINCUS Director March 21, 2024
Robert P. Pincus

/s/ SOCRATES VERSES Director March 21, 2024
Socrates Verses

/s/ IVY ZELMAN DAA irector March 21, 2024
Ivy Zelman
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LEADERSHIP TEAM
Christopher Clemente
Chairman & CEO
Timothy J. Steffan 

Michael Gualtieri 

Tracy Schar 

James Mandich 
VP and Controller
Chris Facas 
Senior VP of Commercial 
Real Estate Services
Mike Daugard 
Senior VP of Acquisition

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

KEY INFORMATION

Christopher Clemente 
Chairman & CEO
Thomas J. Holly 
Director
David P. Paul 
Director
Socrates Verses 
Director

Non-GAAP Financial 
Measures

This annual report makes 
reference to Adjusted 
EBITDA, which is a non-

For a reconciliation of this 
measure to the most directly 
comparable GAAP measure, 
please see the “Non-GAAP 
Financial Measures” section 
contained in the Company’s 
most recent Form10-K that is 
included within this annual 
report. The “Non-GAAP 
Financial Measures” section 
also contains a discussion of 
how we use these non-GAAP 

present them to investors, 
and their material limitations.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains 
“forward-looking statements” 
within the meaning of federal 
securities laws. See the 
discussion under “Forward- 
Looking Statements” in our 
Form 10-K for matters to be 
considered in this regard 
which are incorporated into 
our full Annual Report by 
reference. All data contained 
in this Annual Report is as of 
December 31, 2023, unless 
otherwise noted.

Form 10-K

Additional copies of the 
Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K are available from 
the Company at no charge. 
Requests should be directed 
to the Company’s corporate
headquarters, attention 
Corporate Secretary.

On the Internet

Investors may visit the 
Company’s website at www.
comstock.com for additional 
information, including press 

investor presentations, SEC 

Annual Meeting
June 12, 2024 (9:00 a.m. ET)
1900 Reston Metro Plaza
2nd Floor Conference Center
Reston, Virginia 20190

Comstock Shares
The shares of Comstock Holding 
Companies, Inc. are traded on the 
Nasdaq Capital Market under the 
symbol CHCI.

Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm
Grant Thornton LLP
1000 Wilson Boulevard, #1500
Arlington, VA 22209

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Equiniti Trust Company, LLC (“EQ”) 
48 Wall Street, Floor 23 
New York, NY 10005 

Christopher M. Guthrie 

Jubal R. Thompson 

John Harrison 

Paul Schwartz 
Senior VP of Human Resources
Dylan Clemente 
President of ParkX Management
Kristoffer Green 
VP of Residential Property Management

David M. Guernsey 
Director
James A. MacCutcheon 
Director
Robert P. Pincus 
Director
Ivy Zelman 
Director
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